# FAMILY RELATIONSHIPS: THE TIES THAT BIND

# A Sociological and Demographic Research Programme 2000-2006

# Prepared by:

Dr P.A. Dykstra Netherlands Interdisciplinary Demographic Institute PO Box 11650 2502 AR The Hague tel.: 070-3565252

e-mail: dykstra@nidi.nl

Dr A.C. Liefbroer

Netherlands Interdisciplinary Demographic Institute PO Box 11650 2502 AR The Hague The Netherlands tel.: 070-3565230

e-mail: liefbroer@nidi.nl

Dr M. Kalmijn Department of Sociology Tilburg University P.O. Box 90153 5000 LE Tilburg tel.: 013 - 4662246 email: M.Kalmijn@kub.nl

Dr G.C.M. Knijn
Research Group on Culture and Media
Faculty of Social Sciences
Utrecht University
PO Box 80140
3508 TC Utrecht
tel.: 030-2531861
e-mail: t.knijn@fss.uu.nl

Dr A.E. Komter
Research Group on Culture and Media
Faculty of Social Sciences
Utrecht University
PO Box 80140
3508 TC Utrecht

3508 TC Utrecht tel.: 030-2532297

e-mail: a.komter@fss.uu.nl

Dr C.H. Mulder Amsterdam Study Centre for the Metropolitan Environment Nieuwe Prinsengracht 130 1018 VZ Amsterdam tel.: 020-5254014

e-mail: c.mulder@frw.uva.nl

## **Table of Contents**

- 1 The social and scientific relevance of the research programme
  - 1.1 Preamble
  - 1.2 Social relevance
  - 1.3 Scientific relevance
- 2 The key components of the research programme
  - 2.1 Solidarity within family relationships as a basic concept
  - 2.2 Focusing on kin relationships rather than just nuclear family relationships
  - 2.3 Three key questions
  - 2.4 The role of socio-structural and cultural factors
  - 2.5 Data requirements for the research programme
- 3 Elaboration of the key research questions
  - 3.1 Partner relationships
  - 3.2 Nuclear family relationships
  - 3.3 Kin relationships
- 4 Financial and organisational framework of the research programme
  - 4.1 Organisation of the research programme
  - 4.2 Budget required for the research programme

References

# 1 The social and scientific relevance of the research programme

#### 1.1. Preamble

Family relationships are an important part of the glue that holds society together and they have traditionally been regarded as one of the key determinants of social cohesion. But important social developments — such as the increasingly 'fragile' nature of relationships, dwindling family size, social and spatial mobility, and individualisation — have had a major impact on the position of the family within society. Family issues are the subject of frequent and ongoing debate, particularly in the political arena. Social scientists have come up with little in the way of explanations as to how family relationships are changing and to what extent, and little is understood about the causes and potential implications of changing family patterns.

The aims of the research programme set out in this proposal are twofold: to promote the systematic, scientific study of changing family relationships and to provide answers to key social issues.

A major theme of the proposed programme will be the issue of whether family bonds have eroded and if so, to what extent, what factors have brought this about and what the potential implications of this might be. There is no simple answer to any of these questions. It may well be that there has been no erosion of the bonds between family members but that there has merely been a shift in terms of the way family members express and experience their mutual solidarity. Any decline in the strength of family bonds that has occurred may have been caused by the multitude of socio-structural and cultural factors that can have an impact on the strength of family bonds and how family relationships are manifested. As for the implications, the erosion of family bonds may have an adverse effect on those involved in the relationship and on society as a whole, but it may also have beneficial effects.

This chapter will examine the social and scientific relevance of the proposed research programme.

#### 1.2. Social relevance

Since time immemorial, the family has been an important unifying force in society: it is an important component of *social cohesion* (Van den Brink, 1997; De Jong Gierveld & Van Tilburg, 1995; Kooy, 1975; Ultee, Arts & Flap, 1992). It also plays an important part in terms of the distribution of goods and resources. Goods and resources are transferred to and distributed amongst the nuclear and extended family (Van Berkel, 1997; Bernasco, 1994; Ganzeboom, Treiman & Ultee, 1991; De Graaf & Ultee, 1991; De Regt, 1993). The way this is done can also have an impact on *social inequality*.

The importance of the family has come under renewed scrutiny in recent years, a move prompted in part by the acknowledgement that the embedment in mutually satisfying family relationships can help promote social cohesion and prevent social exclusion (Ministry of Welfare, Health and Cultural Affairs, 1996). The family is, after all, the most important institution in which future generations are raised, in which norms and values are transferred, where the foundations of the future generations' position within society are laid and where informal support and care are exchanged. The nuclear family is also the context in which people share a home that is not simply the private domain of the cohabiting family members, but also the base from which they participate in society.

Family relationships are also bound up with social inequality. Resources are initially divided up amongst households but they are also subsequently divided up amongst individuals within households and nuclear families. The impact that family relationships can have on inequality is evident in various areas, such as the connection between living arrangements and poverty — divorced women on welfare (Kuijsten, 1992; Poortman & Kalmijn, 1999), single elderly women (De Jong Gierveld, 1997) — issues concerning dual-income households and educational homogamy — unequal cumulation within households — and the issue of nuclear family members being breadwinners versus being economically dependent. Resources are passed down from one generation to the next, in the form of gifts or inheritances for example, or in the form of financial support, such as parents helping children to buy a home of their own. There are also non-material transfers, such as the transfer of educational

and professional opportunities, cultural and social capital, and norms and values (Brinkgreve & Van Stolk, 1997). The scale of intergenerational transfers is partly dependent on the nature of the family relationships. Parents who are divorced or whose children are living with a stepfamily may, for example, transfer less economic, cultural and social capital to their children than parents who are (still) living together (Bosman & Louwes, 1988; Dronkers, 1997).

The importance of nuclear and extended family relationships is often underlined in the public debate on social cohesion and inequality (Jonker, 1990) but the family is not what it used to be. People's private lives have changed dramatically over the past few decades (Te Kloeze, De Hoog, Van Bergen & Duivenvoorden, 1996; Langeveld, 1985; Niehof, 1994) in terms of the way relationships are *formed and dissolved* and how they are *structured*. These changes have been brought about by two major cultural developments — individualisation (Weeda, 1985) and secularisation (Van de Kaa, 1987; Lesthaeghe & Van de Kaa, 1986; Lesthaeghe & Surkyn, 1988) — and a number of structural developments, such as the creation and subsequent modernisation of the welfare state, the expansion of education, and changes in the labour market (Knijn, 1994; Kuijsten & Schulze, 1997; Zwaan, 1993). The changes which the family has undergone over the past few decades have had a major impact on social cohesion and inequality within Dutch society.

Partner relationships have undergone a clear change over the past few decades. Increased female labour force participation has meant that more and more women cohabiting with a partner have jobs. This has put pressure on the traditional gender-specific division of labour (Van der Lippe, 1993). It also means that cohabiting couples are less free to choose where they live. Some partners even live elsewhere during the week in order to be nearer their place of work. There is also evidence to suggest that interaction between partners is becoming more a matter of negotiation than it used to be (Van der Avort, 1987; De Swaan, 1983). Things that were formerly taken for granted are now a matter of personal choice, such as the decision to postpone parenthood or forego having children altogether (Beets, Bouwens & Schippers, 1997; Bosveld, 1996; Corijn, Liefbroer & De Jong Gierveld, 1996; Kalmijn, 1996; Mulder & Manting, 1994; Vermunt, 1991). Another example is the decline in the importance of the social origin of prospective partners (Uunk, 1996; Kalmijn, 1998). But the nature of partner relationships is not the only thing that has changed. People have also become much more 'hesitant' about entering *into* relationships. This is borne out by the growing popularity of extramarital cohabitation and the fact that people are waiting until they are older before cohabiting with a partner (Liefbroer, 1991; Latten, 1993; Manting, 1994; Kalmijn, 1994). The risk of partner relationships ending in failure has also increased and it has become more common for people to have a succession of partner relationships (Klijzing, 1992; Kuijsten & Klijzing, 1990; Manting, 1994; Janssen et al., 1998). In short, partner relationships are formed later and dissolved sooner by divorce, although dissolution due to a partner dying generally occurs later because of the sharp rise in life expectancy. Many of the changes outlined above can be interpreted as examples of the shifting significance attached to partner relationships (Straver, 1993). There has been a growing tendency to place ever more emphasis on the emotional side of relationships with the result that greater demands are now being placed on this aspect of relationships. If a relationship does not fulfil expectations in this area, its foundations crumble (Van der Avort, 1987; Van den Brink, 1997; Wouters, 1990).

Parent-child relationships within the household are now characterised by a greater degree of equality and respect for each other's autonomy than they were in the past (Rispens, Hermanns & Meeus, 1996). The interaction between parents and children is more intimate, there is a greater recognition of the psychological needs of children and a greater willingness on the part of parents to satisfy them (Kronjee, 1991; De Regt, 1995). But there has also been a decline in terms of the time that parents and (young) children spend together — partly as a result of the fact that many married women continue to work — which sometimes leads to a conflict between what parents want and what they are able to do (Hooghiemstra & Niphuis-Nell, 1993; Van der Lippe, 1997). The father's role within the household is also changing (Boer et al., 1998; Van Dongen, Frinking & Jacobs, 1995; Jacobs, 1998; Kalmijn 1999). Parent-child relationships have become less hierarchical and authoritarian; a shift has occurred from households based on 'authority' to ones based on 'negotiation' (Du Bois-Reymond, 1997; De Swaan, 1979). Parent-child relationships are becoming increasingly characterised by freedom of choice and are therefore acquiring their own unique content (Dykstra, 1992). The past few years have

seen a slight increase in the length of time that children stay living at home with their parents after decades during which there was a tendency for children to leave home at ever younger ages, (Iedema, Becker & Sanders, 1997; De Jong Gierveld, Liefbroer & Beekink, 1991; Mulder, 1993; Mulder & Hooimeijer, 1995). Although the lowering of the age of consent has meant that children now become legally independent of their parents at a younger age, the trends of recent decades seem to have resulted in them postponing the achievement of their financial and residential independence. Uncertainties about the future mean that more and more of today's young people are keeping their options open (Du Bois-Reymond, 1998).

Relationships with family members who live outside the household (parents, children, brothers/sisters, grandparents, grandchildren) are also changing. It is becoming increasingly common for parents not to live with their dependent children (Niphuis-Nell, 1997). Complicated domestic arrangements are already cropping up here and there as a result of the growing incidence of divorce. Providing practical support to frail elderly parents is becoming increasingly difficult due to increased geographical distances between parents and children and the labour force participation of sons and daughters (Dooghe, 1992; Van Tilburg & Dykstra, 1995). The issue of providing support is also under pressure due to the fact that children no longer automatically regard this as their responsibility. Nor do parents themselves always want their children to shoulder the burden of providing instrumental support because doing so is at odds with the freedom of choice and emphasis on emotional reciprocity which is coming increasingly to characterise the parent-child relationship (Dykstra, 1990; Knipscheer, 1990). This increased freedom of choice also means that family relationships now have to compete for time and attention with other relationships, such as those with friends, neighbours, colleagues and acquaintances. The 'breadth' of family networks (i.e. the number of brothers, sisters, cousins, nephews, nieces, uncles and aunts) has diminished as a result of dwindling family size, but because of increased life expectancy, family networks now consist of more generations and there is evidence of 'verticalisation' in familes (Dykstra & Knipscheer, 1995; Post et al., 1997).

So how does the general public view these developments (Van den Akker, Cuyvers & De Hoog, 1992; Van den Brink, 1997; Grotenhuis & Van der Zwaard, 1997; De Hoog, 1996)? One school of thought is strongly in favour of individualisation. After all, not only did it pave the way for women's liberation but it also provided people in general with a greater degree of autonomy and as such should generally be regarded as a positive development. This optimistic attitude was particularly prevalent in public debate in the Seventies and Eighties. This was an era which was characterised by a generally critical attitude towards the past and individualisation was regarded as a way of breaking free from oppressive traditional bonds and institutions.

A second school of thought places particular emphasis on the drawbacks of the process of individualisation. The fact that traditional sources of social cohesion such as the Church and the local community have become less important has created a vacuum which family relationships can help to fill. In an individualistic society characterised by a high degree of spatial and social mobility, family relationships are among the few relationships capable of being sustained across spatial and social divides. The nuclear family should therefore form the bedrock of social cohesion and its ability to fulfil this function was much debated. This point of view has become more prevalent in the public debate in recent years (Van den Brink, 1997) and is also being articulated in government papers. In its *Gezinsrapport* (Government Paper on the Family) (Ministry of Welfare, Health and Cultural Affairs, 1996), for example, the Dutch Cabinet concluded that it was important to "establish what needs to be done, in a changing society, to safeguard the irreplaceable social function the nuclear family performs (p. 23)".

Public attitudes towards the family have mirrored the shift in the debate in the public arena. The Seventies and Eighties saw a decline in the perceived importance of the family, but in recent years there has been a renewed appreciation of the importance of the family and the virtue of having an effective national family policy (Van den Akker, 1994; Liefbroer, 1998; Social & Cultural Planning Agency, 1996). The following illustration is a case in point: between 1965 and 1991, the number of people who agreed with the statement "if a marriage is on the rocks, it is better for couples to divorce, even if they have children" rose from 12 to 54 percent, but in 1995 the figure fell to 45 percent (Social & Cultural Planning Agency, 1996, p. 500).

But regardless of which side of the debate one is on, the fact remains that family relationships have undergone a dramatic transformation. The potential consequences of these changes are much less obvious. Whether or not these changes are actually indicative of a decline in solidarity within family relationships has yet to be ascertained, and even if family bonds *have* eroded, there is still no certainty about the impact this could have on the way people function within society. The implications for social cohesion and inequality are therefore equally unclear. Nor is very much known about the factors which cause changes to modern family life. In order to reliably assess the potential impact family relationships have on social cohesion, it is essential to gain insight into the underlying processes which shape these types of relationships. After all, understanding these processes is essential in framing policies to safeguard the solidarity that the family helps to provide. The research programme set out in this proposal will include a systematic and extensive study of modern family relationships in their broadest sense.

#### 1.3. Scientific relevance

Research into nuclear and extended family relationships was unfashionable for many years. Making an issue of family relationships was seen as an implicit defence of the traditional nuclear family. During the Seventies and Eighties public opinion was focused on the increasing diversity of living arrangements and was preoccupied with emphasising the equal merit of alternative individual choices. This sort of climate was not very conducive to an analysis of the social determinants and implications of family relationship patterns and social scientists began to use less contentious but also more ambiguous terms such as 'primary groups' and 'living arrangements'.

But the nuclear family is back in the limelight again in the scientific community and people are beginning to realise how limited our knowledge of this subject is. At the end of 1996, for example, the Social Science Council (SWR) published a report about sociological research into nuclear and extended family relationships in the Netherlands entitled *New Perspectives for Family Sociology*. The report explained the social importance of research into family relationships and put forward a wide range of areas that such research could focus on. The report highlighted the fact that universities had shown little interest in undertaking sociological studies into family relationships over the past few decades, and that those centres of expertise that had not actually been closed down had been down-scaled or become fragmented. (Social Science Council, 1996). As a result, interest in sociological research into the family has declined and politicians and society at large no longer know where to turn for information. This is a regrettable situation, given the social relevance of family sociology. In the view of the Social Science Council, a research programme should be initiated which could provide new impetus for sociological research into the nuclear and extended family and which could also help put this type of research back onto the Dutch scientific agenda.

The sort of initiative the SWR has in mind in this regard is research that would provide a new sociological perspective on changing relationships within the nuclear family. The SWR noted that a large-scale research project into the nuclear family had recently been undertaken which concentrated on the educational aspect of child rearing (Rispens, Hermanns & Meeus, 1996), but that a sociological study on the theme of 'child rearing in the Netherlands' would have placed emphasis on different issues:

"A sociological study might, for example, focus on socio-cultural differences in child rearing practices and the impact this has on the way the individual members of the nuclear family function within society. This sort of study could explore the idea that the process of modernisation has led to a much greater diversity in living arrangements than in the past, and that as a result parents and children are exposed to a much wider range of child rearing situations. Very little data on the potential implications of this increase in diversity have been collected and a study of this kind would therefore have to address such issues as: [a] how do different family structures — e.g. single-parent families, families where both partners work — affect child rearing behaviour and outcomes, [b] what relative influence do each of the partners have on the child rearing process, [c] how have social developments affected the way parents raise their children and [d] what impact do changes in the way the family

functions have for the social integration of parents and children? In other words, the distinctive feature of sociological research into the family is its in-depth examination of the potential impact of social developments on the way the family functions, and the potential social consequences of changes in people's living arrangements. (SWR, 1996, pp. 15-16)."

The SWR report identified three areas which should be the subject of future research: (1) Family formation and dissolution: trends, causes and implications; (2) Horizontal and vertical bonds in primary relationships: shifting patterns of dependency and their potential implications; and (3) Developments in terms of the interaction between the family and society. These areas offer more than sufficient starting-points for scientifically and socially relevant research.

Another important scientific body which has called for research into the family is the *Advisory Committee on Scientific and Technological Development* (1996a, b) set up by the Dutch Ministry of Education, Culture and Science. Its 1996 report underlined the importance of research into social cohesion and inequality and specifically highlighted the importance of family relationships:

"What is needed are data that give the social context within which individuals have bonds or where there is potential for them to develop bonds. Much of the survey-research carried out to date is one-sided because it views individuals in isolation and shies away (on the grounds of practicality) from an integrated appraisal of social contexts and networks. Even information about the (nuclear family) household, which takes account of all members of the family and which would enable their interrelationships to be studied, is in extremely short supply—despite the fact that this is the one social context about which information could be collected with relative ease. The compilation of multi-actor data on social groups, i.e. by collecting data about multiple actors in a single context, is an area where there is still a considerable paucity of information (OCV, 1996b, pp.29-30)."

Scientists outside academia have also been critical of the current situation with regard to research into the family and are calling for more research to be done. The Social & Cultural Planning Agency, for example, has published a *Gezinsrapport* (Report on the Family) commissioned by the Dutch Cabinet which stated that:

"The wording of these conclusions is deliberately circumspect in view of the exploratory nature of this study. The results of the child rearing study should be viewed for the time being with a degree of scepticism and perhaps even distrust. (...) There is a need for family research which is approached creatively and on not too small a scale. There is still too little data available on this subject in the Netherlands. (Social & Cultural Planning Agency, 1997, p. 254)."

To date the response to the problems outlined above has been minimal. The most important initiative undertaken so far has been a report on the social position of the nuclear family and other living arrangements which the Dutch government has commissioned the Netherlands Family Council (NGR) to publish on a periodic basis. In order to improve the quality and range of data available for this report, the age range and range of questions of the Fertility Survey (Statistics Netherlands) have been extended, interviews with partners are being conducted, and small-scale in-depth studies are being prepared. Although such initiatives are a step in the right direction, they cannot fill the existing gap in our knowledge about the family.

The aim of the research programme set out in this proposal is to provide a new impetus for sociological research into the family in the Netherlands and in so doing to help fill the gap in sociological research into the family which has been highlighted by various bodies. The scope and subject matter of the proposed research programme are in keeping with the issues which the Social Science Council (1996) identified in its report on family sociology as key starting-points for scientifically and socially relevant research.

# 2 The key components of the research programme

Chapter 1 has argued that while the social importance of developments in the field of the family has increased in recent years, interest among scholars has not kept pace. The research programme proposed here will provide a significant new impetus to research in the field of the sociology of the family. Although the programme will be oriented primarily towards the development of the sociology of the family, this does not mean that other disciplinary perspectives will be excluded. On the contrary, the broad scope of the questions to be researched, including individual (experiential, attitudinal, behavioural) as well as social (cultural and structural) factors, clearly allows an interdisciplinary approach. The main problem and the principal research questions are, in fact, based on theoretical and empirical insights deriving from sociology, demography, social psychology, pedagogy, and cultural anthropology. The present chapter outlines the key components of such a programme. It begins by considering two of its central components, namely the emphasis on the nature and degree of solidarity within family relationships and the focus on relationships within the family in a broad sense, instead of just relationships within the nuclear family. The programme's three key research questions are then formulated and briefly discussed. Changes in the nature and degree of solidarity are occurring against the background of radical social transformations of both a cultural and a socio-structural nature. Section 2.4 considers the most significant of these changes in general terms. and their influence on family relationships. The chapter concludes with a discussion of the type of data needed for the programme, and of how these needs can be met.

# 2.1 Solidarity within family relationships as a basic concept

Chapter 1 has noted a general sense of a decline in the strength of family bonds. This observation raises a series of questions, such as 'Is it true that family bonds are eroding?', 'What is the basis of the supposed strength of family bonds?', 'What factors influence the strength of family bonds?', and 'What are the implications of a decline in the strength of such bonds?'. The research programme intends to provide answers to these questions. The key concept employed in formulating these answers will be that of *solidarity*. The programme will focus on identifying solidarity within family relationships and the causes and implications of that solidarity.

The programme will define solidarity as 'feelings of mutual affinity within family relationships and how these are expressed in behavioural terms'. It is a multidimensional concept, a number of aspects of which can be distinguished:

- 1. The concept focuses on the fact that the unifying force of relationships lies in the willingness of relatives to subordinate their *individual* interests in part if not entirely to *collective* interests or the interests of others in the relationship (Misztal, 1996; Van Oorschot & Komter, 1998). Van Oorschot and Komter (1998) distinguish four significant motives for expressing solidarity, namely (i) a sense of mutual affection and identification, (ii) moral convictions based on cultural transmission (norms and values), (iii) considerations of long-term self-interest, and (iv) accepted authority. Family relationships will usually be based on a combination of these. It will also be interesting to study differences in the combination of motives between types of family relationship and to consider whether the motives for expressing solidarity have shifted over time, from those emphasising shared identity motives (i) and (ii) to those emphasising shared interest motives (iii) and (iv) (Van Oorschot & Komter, 1998). Perhaps the importance of a sense of moral duty has declined and the emphasis within family relationships has become more one of mutually reconciling the interests and needs of those in the relationship (Misztal, 1996). Another central question is whether differences in the motives family members have for demonstrating solidarity lead to major differences in the characteristics of family relationships.
- 2. Solidarity spans various domains. The present programme will distinguish between three main types of solidarity, *instrumental* or economic solidarity, *social* solidarity and *emotional* solidarity. Instrumental solidarity concerns how those involved in a relationship express their economic and instrumental bonds. In the case of partner relationships it might include the division of responsibilities, the formalisation of the relationship, and the partners' respective feelings

regarding the balance of power within their relationship. In the case of parent-child relationships it might include arrangements relating to their respective responsibilities, financial matters (pocket money, savings, supplementing the family income), and opinions regarding the participation and role of the children in decisions affecting the family. In the case of relationships with kin outside the household it will include the extent to which practical assistance and care is provided, and ideas concerning the scope the relationship offers for such provision. Social solidarity is the way people express their social bonds: the activities they share, the friends and acquaintances they have in common, and their attitudes towards privacy for partners or parents and children. Finally, emotional solidarity revolves around emotional reciprocity. Not just the affection or dislike that family members might feel for one another, but also the degree to which people actually express these emotions and how far people can depend on one another for help in difficult situations. This research will study solidarity in each of these three domains.

- 3. There is a *quantitative* element and a *qualitative* element to solidarity. The degree of solidarity within a relationship can vary. Partners who support one another unconditionally have stronger bonds than partners who go their own way. On the other hand, and this is at least as significant for the research programme, the nature of the solidarity might also differ. How those involved in a relationship express their solidarity does not necessarily say anything about the degree of solidarity. Some couples might express their instrumental solidarity by assuming responsibility for specific household tasks or by one of them becoming the breadwinner, while other couples might opt for an egalitarian division of responsibilities. How mutual solidarity is expressed in these two cases differs greatly, but the degree of economic solidarity might be the same in both. The programme will examine both aspects (quantity and quality) of solidarity.
- 4. The concept has both a *behavioural* and an *experiential* component. Solidarity is expressed in the actions of those involved. The form of the relationship says something about the nature and degree of solidarity. Solidarity also has an experiential component, however, which revolves around the degree to which people feel a sense of solidarity towards others in the relationship, the perceived importance of the relationship, and people's attitudes and expectations regarding the relationship. The programme will examine both components in detail. It might be interesting, for example, to consider the degree of tension between the two components. Parents and their adult children might, for example, harbour strong feelings of solidarity while actually expressing much less solidarity.
- 5. Solidarity can be used to identify *asymmetry* within family relationships. It can help determine the degree of stability and reciprocity in terms of the contributions and expectations of those involved. Some relatives show more solidarity than others. Within some family relationships solidarity can even be entirely one-sided if one of the partners does all the taking and the other does all the giving. Tensions and rifts can emerge between family members, regarding, for example, the provision of help to parents in need, as well as disagreements about the division of responsibilities between partners or resentment on the part of parents who expect much from their children but do not feel they get enough in return.
- 6. Solidarity can be identified at three levels. First and foremost it has an *individual* dimension. Some people are more inclined to show solidarity than others (Mills & Clark, 1994; Van Lange, Agnew, Harinck & Steemers, 1997; Van Lange, Otten, De Bruin & Joireman, 1997). Secondly, solidarity at the *relationship level* is extremely significant (Bengtson & Roberts, 1991; Mills & Clark, 1994). Thirdly, solidarity can be understood to characterise *networks* of relationships (Mangen & McChesney, 1988). One might, for example, try and assess how solidarity is expressed within families and to what extent people feel a sense of duty towards 'the family', either in its nuclear or extended form. At the network level the concept allows one to consider the relationship between the nuclear family on the one hand and the broader network of family members on the other, and the degree, for instance, of family individualisation within kinship networks. The relational and network dimensions of solidarity will be particularly important for the proposed programme. The individual dimension will be examined principally as one of the possible determinants of solidarity at the relationship and network levels.

## 2.2 Focusing on kin relationships rather than just nuclear family relationships

The research programme will not focus solely on partner relationships or the nuclear family; its scope will be broader, examining changes within families, nuclear and extended. We have explicitly opted for the term 'kin' since what we are concerned with is relationships between relatives in the broadest sense: not just relationships between partners or between parents and their co-residential children, but also relationships between various types of non-household family members. Nuclear family relationships form a subset of the larger family or kin network. Focusing exclusively on nuclear family relationships would, we believe, undesirably limit the scope of the study — both in terms of space and time. If, as this programme will do, one adopts a dynamic approach, one cannot focus solely on nuclear family relationships. Parents and children form a spatial unit that can be termed a nuclear family for only part of their lives. The period after which family members have ceased to be a nuclear family is also important if one is interested in determining the strength of family bonds. While the character of parent-child relationships may change after they cease to live in the same household, these relationships continue to be important.

Family relationships in the broader sense differ from other personal relationships in several ways: family relationships are — by and large — not achieved, but, by definition, embedded in a family network; they also have a special form of time-spatial continuity.

The principal feature that distinguishes family or kin relationships from others is that — in the main — they are not self-chosen but are *derived through birth* (Knipscheer, 1980). They are 'ascribed relationships'. Consanguinity creates a dependence stronger than in other relationships: 'blood is thicker than water'. Naturally, the extent to which people invest in these extended family relationships varies just as it does in any other relationships. 'Ascription' and 'achievement' must therefore always be taken into account when assessing the nature of a specific family relationship. Obviously, partner relationships can only be 'achieved', but children and other relationship-specific investments nonetheless create bonds that cannot easily be broken (Kalmijn, Bernasco & Weesie, 1999).

Family relationships rarely exist in isolation; families are *social networks* (Dykstra, 1990). They consist of relationships between many parties with different types of bonds that vary in intensity. This is graphically illustrated by family trees. Children are born into relationships with other family members, whether they like it or not. The network character of family relationships is also expressed in the fact that relationships can be created or dissolved as a result of decisions taken by another member of the family or by an occurrence specific to that other member: whether or not parents ever become grandparents depends on whether their children also have children; a child divorcing can affect the parents, for example in terms of the contact they have with their grandchildren; parents divorcing can affect their relationship with their children.

Extended family relationships also differ from other relationships because of their *continuity* (Knipscheer, 1990). While work relationships and a large proportion of friendships are specific to a particular stage of life — school, university, a particular job — family relationships survive despite changes in the life course of the individual. Both of the aspects mentioned above play an important role in this. The fact that family relationships are 'ascribed' means there will always be a formal tie. Since families form social networks, family members (some more than others) share a past that is foreign to outsiders and that is a perpetual source of solidarity between these members. However, family relationships are also very dynamic. They change over time because the positions of individuals within intragenerational and intergenerational chains change: children become parents, parents become grandparents. As parents and children age, the character of the dependence between them changes and might even be reversed. The continuity of family relationships also has implications for the investment in relationships. Often, any investment will only begin to yield a return later on; this creates a dependence which is sometimes called the 'shadow of the future' (Weesie & Raub, 1995).

A final aspect of family relationships is the spatial dimension. Almost by definition, during certain stages of the life cycle relationships within a nuclear family are accompanied by *spatial proximity* in the form of cohabitation (Weeda, 1989). Married couples are even legally obliged to cohabit.

Contemporary Western society places great store on families having their own home, and in the Netherlands it also become rare for married couples to live with their parents. The family home is not just the private realm in which family members live together, it is also the base from which they participate in society (Ministerie van Volksgezondheid, Ruimtelijke Ordening en Milieu, 1997), from which they engage in all their working, caring and leisure activities. Given the limited time available to them, members of the household have to coordinate their respective activities, bearing in mind the time it takes to move from one to the other (Droogleever Fortuijn, 1993; Dijst, 1995). The division of responsibilities between household members, but also the relationships between members of the household and family members outside the nuclear family, depends in part on the radius of activities of household members, which in turn is shaped by where they live and the availability of transport. The spatial proximity of relatives sharing the same house applies only to the closest kin, and even then only during part of their lives. When children leave home they set up a new household elsewhere; the same applies when couples separate or divorce. Despite the geographical distance between family members, family relationships are maintained — unlike many non-family relationships — although the intensity and nature of these family relationships is affected by distance (Dykstra, 1990).

#### 2.3 Three key questions

This focus on solidarity and the emphasis placed on family relationships in a broad sense are reflected in the programme's key research questions. These questions are formulated and elaborated upon below. Each of them focuses on a different aspect of solidarity and family relationships, namely description, causes and implications.

The first question is descriptive in nature and asks: What patterns can be distinguished in the nature and degree of solidarity within family relationships, and how does this solidarity change over time and during the course of people's lives? The programme will attempt to identify the degree to which family relationships are characterised by solidarity and how that solidarity is expressed. As stressed in section 2.1, we shall consider both behavioural and experiential aspects of solidarity, and instrumental, social and emotional solidarity. In studying the degree of solidarity the programme will also examine the formation and dissolution of relationships, especially partner relationships. Section 2.2 has noted that family relationships — apart from the partner relationship — are derived from birth. Partner relationships have a more or less distinct beginning and involve a 'qualitative' leap from having no relationship and thus no solidarity to having a relationship and thus having solidarity. We regard this change in the degree of solidarity to be of major importance as well. Specific attention will also be paid to the role of potentially relevant third parties, other institutions for example, in how family members express solidarity within their relationships. Several examples of such institutions are given in section 2.4. An important aspect of this first question is the need to chart past and future developments in the nature and form of solidarity and to outline how solidarity develops during the course of people's lives.

The second question focuses on the causes of differences in patterns of solidarity, and asks: *To what extent are differences in the nature and degree of solidarity within family relationships influenced by socio-structural and cultural factors, and what mechanisms play a role in this?* The emphasis here will be on studying socio-structural and cultural diversity in the way relationships are formed and expressed, and the effect of changes in the lives of those party to relationships on how those relationships are expressed. It will also be important to expose the mechanisms that play a role in the organisation of solidarity and the changes in that solidarity. Why do those involved in a relationship choose to express it in the way they do? And how does one explain changes in how that relationship is expressed?

The third question focuses on the implications of patterns of solidarity and changes in these patterns, and asks: What are the implications of differences in the nature and degree of solidarity within family relationships for how family members function within society and for the relationship between families and other social institutions? An answer to this question will provide insight into the implications of any decline in solidarity. As noted above, public debates on this issue tend to assume automatically that a decline in solidarity is something to be deprecated. But should it be? A

relationship in which the partners allow one another a great deal of independence might be better for those involved than a relationship in which the partners do everything together; a good balance between independence and togetherness might be ideal. Once again, a distinction will be made between the experiential and behavioural dimensions of how family members function in society. We shall examine how differences in solidarity affect the norms and values subscribed to outside the context of the family and how they affect the social and emotional well-being of the individual. But we shall also examine the behavioural implications of these differences, the degree of social involvement, of network contacts, and the use of services and facilities for example. In so doing, the relationship between the family and other institutions will again be highlighted.

Chapter three considers these three key questions in greater detail and in relation to the three types of family relationship distinguished, namely partner relationships, nuclear family relationships, and kin relationships. In doing so, it will 'flesh out' the necessarily abstract account of the central elements of the programme by elaborating on these questions.

#### 2.4 The role of socio-structural and cultural factors

A central focus of the programme is to examine the impact of major social changes on the strength of family bonds and thus on the nature and degree of solidarity within those relationships. The following is a brief summary of the socio-structural and cultural factors relevant to the programme, and of some of the questions that might be of interest.

- Expansion in education. The fact that young adults continue in education for longer means they postpone forming their own nuclear family and spend longer living either in the parental home or living alone (Blossfeld, 1995). Further, the increasing duration and rising cost of education require a long-term investment on the part of parents. These factors can have implications for solidarity between parents and children both while children live with their parents and after they leave home. However, the fact that the level of educational achievement has risen as a result of the expansion in education has even more dramatic implications for family relationships, in part because of its effect on the developments described below.
- Rising labour force participation of women. The rise in the labour force participation of women has a whole host of potential implications for various aspects of solidarity within family relationships. It has been shown for instance that the labour force participation of women influences both when relationships are formed and the onset of parenthood, with the effect on parenthood apparently being the most pronounced (Blossfeld, 1995). If a woman works, this also affects how solidarity within the relationship with her partner is expressed. In such cases, men are expected to provide a different form of instrumental solidarity (with less emphasis on earning money, and more emphasis on domestic and child-rearing responsibilities), but also more emotional solidarity. Working women make much greater use of childcare facilities than non-working women. The relationship with non-household family members can also be affected by the labour force participation of women. Labour force participation reduces opportunities for providing informal support to parents who need it, but it might also mean parents being called upon to look after children more often than used to be the case in the past.

- Improvement in welfare, poverty and social exclusion. Social inequality at the household level far exceeds that at the level of the individual. We know very little though about the relationship between social inequality and solidarity within family relationships (Van Solinge & Plomp, 1997). The programme will consider the implications of poverty and exclusion for solidarity within these relationships and ask questions such as 'To what extent do unemployment and poverty lead to tensions within partner relationships?', 'Does the form in which solidarity within family relationships is expressed vary according to social class?', and 'To what extent does the family offer a safety net in the event of financial difficulties?'. The programme will also consider the implications of changes in family relationships for poverty and social exclusion. One might, for example, want to investigate the effects of divorce on solidarity between ex-partners (is alimony paid, what arrangements have been made concerning parental access in the case of children?) and on financial transfers from parents to their adult children (how substantial are these transfers, to what extent do they improve the life chances of their children?).
- Changes in the economic structure. The flexibilisation of labour (Buchmann, 1989; Hakim, 1998) in particular has a potentially major influence on decisions regarding family formation among young adults and on how partners express their relationship. Diminishing job security, a concomitant of the growing tendency towards short-term contracts, and the demand for higher labour productivity make it more difficult for young adults to invest in both a career and family life at the same time. One direct consequence is that parenthood is postponed until it inflicts the least possible damage on one's career. Another key change in the structure of our economy has been the rise of the knowledge-based society. The need for ongoing training means careers can no longer be planned as effectively as before, and this increases uncertainty about the future. How do families respond to this? The speed at which many forms of knowledge become outdated mean parents are often less well-informed in certain respects than their children. What impact does this have on parent-child relationships? Who is transferring knowledge to whom, and does this affect how solidarity between parents and children is generally expressed?
- Institutional arrangements. Since the 1950s an extensive safety net of benefits has been created in the Netherlands, the effect of which has been to undermine the link between decisions on family formation and socio-economic circumstances (Lichter et al., 1997; Wouters, 1990). Relatively favourable levels of benefit have made it easier for young adults with poor job prospects to have families. Also, such benefits provide a buffer for those who dissolve their relationships. The reduction in benefit levels and the narrowing of benefit entitlement since the 1970s have had a disproportionately severe effect on young adults, and perhaps contributed to a decision to postpone starting a family. As part of this programme, research can be carried out into the intentional and unintentional effects of government policy on the expression and degree of solidarity within family relationships. An important aspect of government policy to which specific attention will be paid is emancipation and family policy. Dutch emancipation policy is a fairly recent phenomenon, and the facilities for those wishing to combine work and motherhood have lagged far behind those in other European countries (Kuijsten & Schulze, 1997). In the Netherlands the difficulty of combining motherhood and paid work has contributed to the popularity of a scenario in which parenthood is postponed and women leave the labour force, either for a short period or longer, when they become mothers. It was not until recently that a policy was implemented that makes it easier for women to combine having children with paid work. This policy has contributed to the increase in the proportion of women who continue to work after having a baby, but it has not yet had any demonstrable effect on the age at which women decide to have children (Beets, 1998).
- The rise of a multicultural society. Ethnic diversity in the Netherlands has increased. Ethnic groups that have settled in the Netherlands since the 1960s sometimes vary significantly from the indigenous population in how they express solidarity within family relationships. A number of examples can be cited, including the powerful influence of parents on the choice of partner among Turks and Moroccans (Esveldt & Kulu-Glasgow, 1994) and the higher proportion of single mothers among Surinamese and Antillean women. One interesting question is how people reconcile the discrepancy between the family values of their own culture and those typical of

Dutch culture. Young adults are particularly exposed to these two sets of influence. It is also interesting to look at how families deal with someone from a different ethnic background joining the family (Hondius, 1999). Since the vast majority of partner relationships are formed within one's own ethnic group, many families still consist solely (or almost solely) of members of just one ethnic group.

- Declining normative control. The influence of existing normative frameworks and models on the behaviour of individuals has been greatly eroded. This process is evident, for example, in the change from households characterised by parental dictates to households characterised by negotiation. Parental authority can no longer be taken for granted, and relationships between parents and children are becoming more egalitarian. The decline in normative control also influences decisions by young adults to set up a family and the form that family takes (Buchmann, 1989). These decisions are based on considerations specific to the individuals concerned, and though the views of others deemed important might still play a role they are usually no longer decisive. Because young adults have obtained the right to their own money and begun to leave the parental home earlier, the power of parents to make decisions affecting their children has declined. The church used to be another significant party promoting marriage and the family, but secularisation (Dobbelaere, 1981) has curbed its influence on the behaviour of young adults too. Finally, greater geographical mobility and the ability to safeguard one's privacy have made it more difficult for society to exercise normative control over the behaviour of young adults.
- *Individualisation*. Not only has the scope for exercising normative control declined, so has the desire to do so. This cultural factor, frequently termed 'individualisation', has been a major influence on changes within partner relationships and nuclear and extended families. Individualisation refers particularly to the greater freedom of individuals to decide themselves, regardless of others, how to lead their lives. In taking these decisions, individual interests (rather than collective interests) are now more important than in the past (Turkenburg, 1995). The impact of individualisation on the way people express solidarity within intimate relationships is complex. People will decide to take far-reaching steps, like marriage or having children, only if they can gauge all the implications fairly accurately and only once they have evaluated them. Often, people will then postpone such decisions — since they are difficult or impossible to reverse. A rational approach to parenthood will also lead to people wanting to evaluate all the pros and cons before deciding to start a family. One effect of the process of individualisation is a greater emphasis on the quality of personal relationships (Giddens, 1992; Jamieson, 1998). Since the decision to enter into and remain in personal relationships has become a matter of personal choice, one also needs to constantly monitor whether the quality of the relationship is still satisfying. This is true especially in the case of partner relationships. This might lead to a situation in which the quality of relationships is higher than in the past, but that the relationships themselves do not last as long. However, individualisation has implications not only for the manifestation of, and value attached to partner relationships, but also for relationships within the nuclear family — children might have greater privacy and freedom of choice in the shared household; perhaps the degree of emotional investment in relationships with children is greater — and for kin relationships in general — parents might be less inclined than before to ask their children for informal help.

The research programme will focus on these social factors in a variety of ways. It will consider how the extent to which solidarity plays a role in family relationships and how that solidarity is organised, differ according to the socio-structural and cultural position of families. It will consider differences in ethnic background, socio-economic position, cultural values, etc. In addition, the influence of social factors can be studied by examining how the nature and degree of solidarity change as a consequence of changes in the lives of those in the relationship. Possible questions include: 'What happens to the organisation of solidarity within partner relationships if one of the partners becomes unemployed?' and 'What impact does a mixed marriage have on the relationships between the two families?' A third way social changes might be of influence is in how they affect the organisation of solidarity. Here, one could focus on the role of institutions other than the nuclear family in the organisation of solidarity; the role, for example, of legal arrangements in formalising partner relationships, the role of childcare and help with child rearing in shaping parent-child relationships, and the role of elder care

in creating and cementing instrumental solidarity between parents and children. Finally, the programme will also focus on the effect changes in solidarity within family relationships have on the use of facilities and services, and on the interaction between families and other institutions.

#### 2.5 Data requirements for the research programme

There are two main requirements for the proposed research programme. Obviously, there would have to be sufficient manpower available to carry out the programme, but there would also have to be sufficient research material available. This last aspect is dealt with below.

To provide satisfactory answers to the questions formulated above and elaborated on in chapter 3, a considerable quantity of data is required. Ideally, the database needs to meet certain conditions, the most important of which are briefly set out below:

- Large-scale: The database would need to contain information on the degree to which and the way in which various types of family relationships are characterised by solidarity. To enable comparisons to be made within types of relationship (for example, between highly educated women and women with a low level of education, between families with different ethnic origins, between rich and poor), the database needs to be large enough to enable meaningful comparisons at the subgroup level. Substantial subsamples within the database would enable sufficient information to be collected on the various types of relationship to permit comparisons between these relationships.
- Panel: The database would need to enable dynamic changes in family relationships to be studied.
  Collecting data retrospectively is not an option here since retrospective data on the nature and
  degree of solidarity within relationships would produce distorted and unreliable information in
  many cases. To study the dynamics of family relationships and obtain greater insight into the
  causes and impact of changes in family relationships a prospective panel would have to be set up
  to track family members over time.
- *Multi-method:* The database would need to provide information on the mechanisms behind the expression of solidarity and changes in how that solidarity is expressed. Attention should also be paid to both the behavioural and experiential components of solidarity. To enable this to be done in any meaningful way, large-scale survey data will be needed and small-scale in-depth interviews will have to be conducted. Combining both methods will provide a unique opportunity to obtain a better insight into the nature and significance of family relationships.
- *Multi-actor:* The database would need to enable relationships between family members and the dynamics within those relationships to be analysed. Many aspects of solidarity can be studied satisfactorily only if information is collected from more than one person involved in the various relationships (for example, non-co-resident children, brothers and sisters, and grandparents).

At present there is no database in the Netherlands (or outside the Netherlands) which meets the above conditions. Some useful initiatives concerning specific aspects have been undertaken, but a new database will be needed to enable the research programme's key questions to be answered. A proposal to create such a database (large-scale, panel, multi-method, multi-actor) has been formulated in an investment proposal *Netherlands Kinship Panel Study: A Multi-Actor, Multi-Method Panel Survey on Solidarity in Family Relationships*, which will be submitted for funding by the NWO-programme *Investeringen Groot* (Major Investment Scheme). In implementing this programme of data collection, we shall co-operate and/or co-ordinate our efforts with other data collection projects being undertaken in the field of family relationships (in particular the Fertility Survey being conducted by Statistics Netherlands).

# 3 Elaboration of the key research questions

This chapter sets out the key questions of the research programme for each of the three types of family relationships that have been distinguished.

#### 3.1 Partner relationships

This part of the programme will revolve around relationships between partners. What sets these relationships apart from the other two types of relationships (those between parents and children within the nuclear family and those between members of the extended family) is that they are achieved rather than ascribed; they are not blood ties. At the same time, partner relationships are (always in the biological sense, and usually in the social sense) the building blocks of all other family relationships.

#### 3.1.1 Solidarity within partner relationships

The recurring theme in the issue of solidarity among partners is that it has become more complex over the years, both in terms of how it comes about and how long it lasts. This may be attributed to two developments.

To begin with, decisions about the formation of relationships and the manifestation of these relationships are no longer strictly dictated by social norms, nor are they now reinforced by sharply defined gender roles. Traditional social norms and values used to be defined in such a way that they engendered a particular type of solidarity between partners: it was the norm to have children, get married, to do specific things together but other things separately. Traditional gender roles also generated strong bonds between partners. Traditionally, partners were dependent on one another as a result of a strict division of labour and because of the asymmetrical and generally accepted balance of power between partners. The erosion of traditional norms and weakening of traditional gender roles has given people more freedom of choice (Young & Willmott, 1973; Van Berkel, 1997; Rossi & Rossi, 1990). Although this is generally seen as a positive development, making choices has become more difficult as a result, with respect to both the person with whom one wishes to enter into a relationship and with whom one wants to stay, and how the relationship is structured. Within this context, solidarity may no longer be taken for granted, but it does manifest itself, albeit in a different way. Nowadays it is more important than ever for partners to reflect upon and discuss important aspects of their relationship (Van der Avort, 1987; Giddens, 1992).

A second, related development is that the collective and individual interests and desires of partners are now experienced and evaluated differently than they used to be. This trend is largely the result of a shift towards a more individualistic society. People today are more aware of their individual desires and interests, and they want them to be taken into account in their relationships with their partners (Lesthaeghe, 1983). The emancipation of women has contributed to this development. The shift in emphasis from collective interests ('the interests of the family' or 'the interests of the marriage') to a combination of collective and individual interests has also played a part in changing the nature of solidarity (Popenoe, 1988; Bengston & Achenbaum, 1993; Walker, 1994). The quality of a marriage used to depend strongly on the degree of specialisation, economies of scale and the presence of children, even if this meant less opportunities for personal growth for one of the partners. Today, quality is also measured in terms of the scope the relationship provides for personal growth for both partners, and their ability to 'derive benefit' from and enjoy the relationship. The individual demands placed on relationships by the partners seem to have increased, and this had made solidarity more fragile.

In other words, there has been a shift towards greater freedom of choice within relationships, and within this freedom of choice individual interests have been pushed to the fore and have become as important as collective interests. Having said that, these developments have not taken place to the same extent throughout society; some have only just begun whilst others have remained confined to certain sectors of society, such as among the better educated. Both major developments do, however,

have implications for the nature and degree of solidarity between partners, and thus for the strength and sustainability of bonds between partners (Finch, 1989; Harris, 1983; Kalmijn, Bernasco & Weesie, 1999; Laslett, 1979). Against this background, the programme will address various subquestions.

## 3.1.2 Formation and dissolution of partner relationships

The first, specific research question will focus on the formation and dissolution of partner relationships. An important aim of the programme will be to closely monitor patterns of partner relationships and to identify new trends at an early stage (Buunk & Van Driel, 1989). The programme will begin by addressing standard questions about the timing and prevalence of the formation and dissolution of lasting partner relationships – the rising divorce (separation) rate, rising age at marriage, the increase in extramarital cohabitation, and remarriage (Manting, 1994). It will also address the prevalence of same-sex partner relationships and the extent to which so-called Living-Apart-Together (LAT) relationships, where couples do not actually cohabit, are seen as an alternative to consensual unions and marriage.

The programme will delve further into identifying patterns of partner relationships than research in this field has done to date, since it will also study phenomena such as serial monogamy, 'confirmed' singles, and new hybrid types of partner relationships, such as dual-location households, where partners only live at the same address at the weekend and where one of the partners lives close to his or her place of work during the week (Green, 1997). Although questions about the formation and dissolution and prevalence of different kinds of partner relationships do not provide insight into the issue of solidarity within partner relationships, they do help to identify a prerequisite of solidarity: as people marry less, and later in life, as divorce rates rise and as people opt for more casual or 'part time' cohabitation arrangements, the conditions for the creation of solidarity within partner relationships change fundamentally.

# 3.1.3 How solidarity is expressed: patterns and dynamics

A second question that will be addressed is how partner relationships are given form and content The specific characteristics of the relationships of cohabiting couples is directly related to the nature and degree of solidarity between the partners. The key question here is: Which patterns can we discern with respect to the nature and degree of solidarity within partner relationships, and how does solidarity change during the course of people's lives? To answer this question, we will examine three dimensions of solidarity: instrumental, social and emotional.

We shall first look at instrumental solidarity, which, in the case of partner relationships, consists primarily of material bonds. Partners are often economically dependent on, or tied to one another to varying degrees. This includes well-documented issues such as the sexual division of household tasks and paid employment (Becker, 1991 [1981]; Van Berkel, 1997; Van der Lippe, 1993), as well as issues that have received less attention in the past, such as the way in which partners arrange their financial affairs (Giesen & Kalmijn, 1999) and how relationships are formalised, for example through marriage contracts, the official registration of (non-marital) partner relationships, and cohabitation contracts (Giesen, 1999). A new perspective on this will be our focus on the housing situation of couples, which constitutes one of the most important material bonds between cohabiting partners. We will take a dynamic approach to examining people's housing movements and their residential careers (Courgeau & Lelièvre, 1992; Henretta, 1987; Mulder & Wagner, 1998), we shall look into how couples go about taking decisions with respect to residential moves and migration (Bonney & Love, 1991; Cooke & Bailey, 1996; Mincer, 1978), and how individual and collective living and employment interests are reconciled in decisions of this sort (Clark & Dieleman, 1996; Droogleever Fortuijn, 1993).

A second type of solidarity could be called the social dimension and includes leisure activities and social networks. The social dimension of solidarity is about the interaction between partners as well as shared lifestyles and how partners are bound by common ties with third parties via their networks

(Kalmijn & Bernasco, 1999). One of the advantages of having a partner is the possibility of sharing leisure activities and of having mutual friends and acquaintances. This enables partners to derive more pleasure from their relationship and strengthens solidarity between them (Hill, 1988; Kalmijn & Bernasco, 1999; Uehara, 1990; White, 1983). The programme will clearly identify the degree to which partners share pursuits. When spending time together, couples also need to reconcile their individual interests and desires, and one of the issues will be how partners take decisions in these kinds of situations. The time they spend on a paid job and homemaking (including child rearing) is an important factor in this regard, if only because paid and unpaid work may compete with shared leisure activities (Kingston & Nock, 1987). Another factor that plays a role, apart from the actual amount of time partners spend on work, is the scheduling of this time, such as working overtime, shift work and working outside normal office hours (Kalmijn & Bernasco, 1999; Presser, 1994). What's more, doing many things as a team could conflict with the ideology of individualism: whilst people derive pleasure from shared activities, they also feel they should have a 'life of their own'. This study will therefore pay ample attention to the important questions as to how people experience the conflict between autonomy and dependence, and what the best possible mix between the two might be.

The third dimension of solidarity is emotional. This dimension includes both the feelings partners have for each other (love, affection), and the degree to which individual psychological problems manifest themselves within partner relationships. The more partners are receptive to each other's problems, and the more they understand and help each other in this respect, the stronger the solidarity between them. Since couples today are placing greater demands on personal relationships, it is sometimes felt that partners should be each other's best friend as well as each other's partner. In some cases, partner relationships can even become more or less 'therapeutic' (Bellah et al., 1985; Giddens, 1992). Whilst expectations of this kind can strengthen solidarity between partners, they can also strain relationships. Another issue that will be studied in this context is how partners deal with conflicts within their relationships. The style of conflict management (Buunk & Nijskens, 1980) affects the stability of partner relationships and can even be of influence following divorce, not only on the well-being of the partners concerned, but also on the well-being of any children that may be involved.

When looking at the issue of solidarity, the programme will also examine possible interrelationships between its various dimensions. Does solidarity have a single underlying dimension, or do the various types of solidarity constitute alternatives? American research has shown that solidarity is multi-dimensional (Roberts et al., 1991). Historical developments would suggest that, in certain social categories, it is the nature rather than the degree of solidarity that has changed: for example, instrumental solidarity is being replaced by emotional solidarity. This would therefore suggest that there is no single underlying dimension to solidarity, but that there are various social categories in society which differ from one other in terms of the different dimensions of solidarity that exist within partner relationships.

Another important issue that should be addressed when studying patterns of solidarity, is how solidarity changes during the course of people's lives. Solidarity is an outstanding example of a phenomenon that tends to become stronger with time: as relationships last longer, partners get to know each other better, they accumulate shared memories and become dependent on one another in a variety of idiosyncratic ways. Having said that, this pattern of growing solidarity can not always be taken for granted (Kalmijn & Bernasco, 1999). The birth of a child may make it more difficult for partners to spend time together and may cause partners to grow apart rather than become closer. Other major events in people's lives, such as illness or the death of a loved one, may have unexpected repercussions for the bonds between partners.

#### 3.1.4 Relationships with other institutions

Family relationships are bound up with other social institutions in a number of ways. In the case of partner relationships, other institutions tend to come into the picture primarily at the time of formation and dissolution. Government is the main player that gets involved in these relationships, for example by formulating regulations and legislation governing the formation of relationships. A case in point is the recent public debate about the opportunity offered non-marital partners to officially register their domestic partnership ('geregistreerd partnerschap'), or the debate about the individualisation of taxes

and social security benefits. Government is also a party to the dissolution of partner relationships (divorce). How should household effects be divided up after a divorce, how much alimony needs to be paid and for how long, how should local government respond to the demand for housing that arises after couples part, and which rules should the authorities adopt with respect to the benefits women receive following divorce (Knijn & Van Wel, 1999)? Government also affects the way in which partner relationships manifest themselves. This relates not just to the financial aspects of relationships, but also to aspects that are affected by government policy in other areas, such as employment, childcare and housing (see also section 3.2.4). The programme will study other social institutions in addition to government that intervene directly or otherwise in partner relationships, such as counselling and advice services couples can turn to when they have relationship problems.

## 3.1.5 Causes and mechanisms

This part of the programme will seek to identify the causes and mechanisms that underlie the patterns described above, in terms of both the formation and dissolution of partner relationships and patterns of, and trends in solidarity. To this end, we shall trace a number of general socio-structural and cultural trends. But identifying social trends will only be the first step in the process. When studying causes, differences among social categories need to be distinguished and the mechanisms that come into play at the individual and household levels need to be addressed.

Structural factors that affect the formation, manifestation and dissolution of partner relationships are rooted primarily in the structure of the labour market. The programme will also focus on the implications of the fact that women are going out to work, which has become a well-documented issue over the past years. Questions that will be addressed will include the way in which employment affects the degree of social and emotional solidarity between partners, in addition to standard questions about the influence of level of education and female labour force participation on the timing of marriage and marital stability (Blossfeld & Huinink, 1991; Booth et al., 1984; Liefbroer & Corijn, 1999; Oppenheimer, 1994). An important consideration is that time pressures in dual-income households can have two opposite effects. Whilst the fact that partners have less time for each other can weaken solidarity, a similarity of roles between partners in dual-income households can promote mutual respect and communication. In addition to studying the influence of employment, attention will also be given to differences between social categories: between the better and lesser educated, between urban and rural areas, and between the rich and the poor.

In addressing cultural trends, the main focus will be on the influence of norms and values. A distinction can be made between various types of norms and values, such as those regarding the emancipation of women, religious values, and postmaterialist values (Ingelhart, 1977; Popenoe, 1988). Norms and values affect the way people view partner relationships, which in turn influences the formation, dissolution and manifestation of relationships. Although, on average, values have undergone marked changes, these trends have not been embraced to the same degree by all social categories. Since public opinion appears to be very divided on this issue, it is important that we identify what people's norms and values are and how they shape relationships.

When studying the increased diversity in norms and values it will also be important to look at 'new' social categories in society: to what extent do the norms and values of ethnic minorities differ from those of the indigenous population, which differences exist among ethnic groups, and does this result in other types of behaviour? In this respect, it would also be interesting to pay specific attention to cultural differences among different migrant communities (Lesthaeghe, 1996). Marked differences may exist in the formation and manifestation of partner relationships within ethnic groups, depending on whether they belong to the first, second or intermediate generation of migrants.

As norms and values have changed, so have living arrangements. This is borne out by the growing popularity of extramarital cohabitation (Manting, 1994; Prinz, 1995; Rindfuss & Vandenheuvel, 1990). International research has focused on the question whether, and to what extent, consensual unions are the result of – or whether they result in - a weakening inclination towards family formation, and whether this is linked to the rising divorce (separation) rate (Axinn & Barber, 1997; Axinn & Thornton, 1992; Hall, 1996; Thomson & Colella, 1992; Waite et al., 1986; Waite, 1995).

The research programme will seek to gain insight into the significance of cohabitation for those involved and will monitor future changes in this area (cf. Manting, 1996).

## 3.1.6 Social implications

A view often expressed is that solidarity between partners has a positive effect on the way people function within society. After all, partner relationships are among the most important bonds people have with one other. The programme will seek to empirically test whether this statement is true. Its main focus will be on the subjective aspects of the way people function. Does not having a partner lead to loneliness, and does a lack of solidarity within partner relationships heighten feelings of loneliness? Standard questions of this kind will be further qualified by closely examining how individuals experience various forms of solidarity, and by explicitly investigating whether there are drawbacks to solidarity (asymmetrical patterns of dependency that impede personal well-being, excessively strong emotional ties that have an adverse effect on how people feel, a conflict between autonomy and dependence, etc).

In addition to studying the subjective implications of partner relationships, the programme will address the influence of partnerships on the objective aspects of the way people function within society. In the case of the formation and dissolution of relationships, issues addressed will include the degree to which people are financially independent, or how dependent they are on others or on the government. Attention will also be given to the pursuit of residential careers (Murphy & Sullivan, 1985; Sullivan, 1986). The programme will also take a closer look at the way in which partners influence each other's success in the labour market (Bernasco, 1994), and the extent to which bonds between partners encourage or impede other types of bonds, such as friendships and club activities.

#### 3.2 Nuclear family relationships

The second type of family relationship involves the ties between parents and children living in the same household and ties between brothers and sisters. A key difference between parent-child relationships and the other nuclear family relationships is that children are highly dependent on their parents. Young children in particular rely on the involvement, the opportunities and qualities of their parents when it comes to their well-being, opportunities for personal development and the structure of their day-to-day lives. The family used to be regarded as the prototype of Durkheim's 'mechanical solidarity': strong social ties based on shared norms and values, in which mutual support and assistance was a matter of course. The family has traditionally been the main guardian of solidarity: it was nurtured as one of the most important mainstays of a harmonious and close-knit society. But social developments have meant that family solidarity can no longer be taken for granted.

#### 3.2.1 Solidarity within the nuclear family

Macro-structural developments such as advancing urbanisation and geographical mobility and changes in the labour market due to, among other things, improved levels of education and rising female labour force participation, have brought about an individualisation and democratisation process within the family. In addition to this, 'family individualisation' has been a feature of society for some time; that is to say, ties between the nuclear family and its direct social environment have become looser. Demographic developments have given rise to fundamental changes in family structures: families are becoming smaller, women are having children later in their lives, couples are increasingly living together without getting married, and more and more children are being born outside of marriage. Although the number of single-parent families has remained stable since the early Seventies (about 10 percent of all families), poverty has become more widespread among these families, and in the Netherlands single mothers are now required by law to find paid employment (Hooghiemstra & Knijn, 1997; Bussemaker, Van Drenth, Knijn & Plantenga, 1997; Poortman & Kalmijn, 1999). At the same time, more and more children are growing up in stepfamilies that are created when their divorced parents enter into new relationships. Family structures are becoming ever more complex as a result; children may now have several 'parents' as well as 'new' grandparents and other relatives, all of whom are seeking to define their relationships with each other and with the children (Smart & Neale, 1999).

Another important change in family structures in the Netherlands is related to the immigration of families from former Dutch colonies and the reunification of the families of Mediterranean migrants. A particularly striking phenomenon among families of Caribbean descent are single-parent families in which the mothers, if they have a paid job, tend to spend more hours outside the home than Dutch mothers (Distelbrink, 1998). Families originating from Mediterranean countries tend to be bigger than those of the non-migrant population (Hooghiemstra & Niphuis-Nell, 1995; Pels, 1998). These developments have extended the spectrum of family structures in the Netherlands.

Socio-structural trends of this sort have gone hand in hand with cultural trends, in particular changing norms and values regarding the ways in which nuclear family members should interact and expectations regarding their duties and responsibilities. Both these trends have led to the democratisation of family relationships, fuelled by individualisation (Du Bois-Reymond, 1997; Giddens, 1992; Doornenbal, 1996). For example, the 'negotiation model' has come to replace the hierarchical relationships which formerly characterised families (Van Berkel, 1997). Not only has the relationship between partners changed as a result of a redefinition of gender roles (see section 3.1), but the relationship between parents and their children has changed as well. Children today tend to be respected as individuals, and their individual interests are given greater prominence alongside the parents' interests. Whilst more egalitarian relationships between parents and children can lead to increased mutual respect for each other's needs and desires, for example regarding leisure activities, privacy, the use of space within the home, or the division of household duties amongst members of the family, they may also increase the potential for conflict. Individual family members are more likely to clash because parents today are less inclined to stay together 'for the sake of the children'. Since the continuity of partner relationships is often disrupted, solidarity between parents and their children can no longer be taken for granted.

Despite major cultural differences within families of non-Dutch descent, both parents and children face the challenge of embracing the norms and values of Dutch society. Whether this turns out to be a difficult or an easy process depends on a number of factors, such as the number of years they have spent in the Netherlands, the degree to which they cherish their own cultural identity, their desire to integrate into Dutch society and the reaction of the Dutch to their presence. We can state with a fair degree of certainty, however, that problems will arise along the way, and that this will inevitably affect family relationships and will frequently strain the relationships between parents and children (Van Distelbrink, 1998; Pels, 1998).

It is not inconceivable that the major social trends described above affect the nature and degree of solidarity within families.

#### 3.2.2 Formation and dissolution of family relationships

The first research question will involve identifying and detailing a variety of family characteristics. The programme will first examine the moment at which couples decide they want to have children and changes herein over time. The decision to have children tends to be based on a combination of financial-economic motives and social-emotional motives and is related to couples' decisions about future gender roles and lifestyles (White, Booth & Edwards, 1986; Van Luijn, 1996; Jacobs, 1998). Dykstra (1991) concluded that the average number of children born to women with a strong professional orientation is lower than among less career-minded women. Special attention will also be paid to couples who remain childless, either voluntarily or involuntarily. The reasons underlying childlessness and possible ways in which this may be related to background characteristics such as education and employment status or factors such as career planning or a lack of facilities to combine a job and a family will also be addressed.

'Dissolution' of parent-child relationships takes place solely as a result of the death of a parent or a child; the relationship between parents and children *within the context of the nuclear family,* however, ends when a child leaves the parental home. The programme will study developments in homeleaving by young people against the backdrop of international trends (Cordon, 1997; Goldscheider,

1997; Goldscheider et al., 1993). The Netherlands is one of the few countries in which the recent trend to postpone leaving the parental home is not very apparent (Hooimeijer & Mulder, 1998).

The programme will also describe different types of family structures and changes herein over time. Particular attention will be focused on varying types of families in which children grow up, and the relationship with structural background variables such as social class, education, the parents' employment status and ethnic origin. In the case of migrant families, relevant areas of study will include how old the children were at the time of family reunification and which reasons prompted this move, how the composition of families change during the course of the children's lives, and how the people involved experience these changes.

An important question when studying broken families, is what happens to the parent-child relationship after parents part. Until now, research into the implications of divorce has focused on the situation of the divorcees themselves (Broese van Groenou, 1991; Raschke, 1987; Wallerstein & Blakeslee, 1990) and on the implications for any children involved (Bosman, 1993; Dronkers, 1997; McLanahan & Sandefur, 1994; Simons & Associates, 1996; Spruijt, 1993). Research in the Netherlands so far has paid very little attention to how divorce affects the relationship between children and their divorced parents (Dykstra, 1998). Outside the Netherlands, research into this issue was embarked on earlier (Furstenberg & Cherlin, 1991; Cooney & Uhlenberg, 1990; Seltzer, 1991). The programme will address issues such as parental access, actual contact between children, fathers and mothers, possible conflicts that may arise in these situations, and how conflicts can be resolved. Particular attention will be focused on the emergence of new arrangements such as co-parenthood.

## 3.2.3 How solidarity is expressed: patterns and dynamics

Living in a nuclear family context raises the issue of how the various patterns of dependence and bonds among family members are expressed and experienced. Here, too, the programme will seek to identify patterns in the nature and degree of solidarity among family members and how these patterns change during the course of people's lives. As in the case of partner relationships, we distinguish three dimensions of solidarity.

The first question that needs to be addressed, is how instrumental solidarity between parents and children is expressed. This includes issues such as the scale of material transfers from parents to children (De Regt, 1993), such as toys, (luxury) articles, and pocket money, and the context within which these transfers take place: negotiations between parents and children, and the influence of peers, advertising and the media on children's desire for material goods. The financial position of the parents might well influence the nature and degree of mutual solidarity. Do 'poor' children understand and accept their parents' restricted means, and do 'rich' children appreciate the financial latitude they are given? Other aspects of instrumental solidarity relate to the allocation of space in the home, the ability to satisfy individuals' needs for privacy, and the degree to which parents (are able to) invest in their children's education and professional opportunities.

Social solidarity is expressed in the quality and length of time spent together as well as in the extent to which parents and children support each other, and the quality of this support, and the division of responsibilities among family members. Since these patterns tend to change during the course of people's lives, the programme will look at the age at which children begin to spend less time with their parents, and at which age children are expected to contribute to housework. The programme will identify how parents and children in different types of families spend time together (actively and passively), how parents and children communicate about these matters, and the degree to which the needs of individual family members are taken into account. Another relevant question is whether the involvement of children in homemaking strengthens solidarity, or whether in fact it gives rise to constant conflicts. A related issue is the gender-based socialisation of boys and girls. Are boys and girls these days expected to contribute equally to household tasks, and is this the case in all types of families? One might expect to find that children in two-career households are expected to do more. We would also expect to find that the nature of gender socialisation in migrant families differs from that in Dutch families. The impact this has on mutual solidarity between parents and children, as well as among brothers and sisters, is an interesting aspect of social solidarity within nuclear families.

It might be assumed that family relationships are based on emotional solidarity between parents and children, but countless novels and other testimonies of the emotional neglect of children indicate that this is not the case at all. Dutch research into child rearing practices shows that rearing children in an empathetic and understanding way is becoming a more generally accepted norm, yet more hierarchical forms of child rearing continue to exist (Maccoby & Martin, 1983; Rispens, Hermanns & Meeus, 1996; Doornenbal, 1997). Which feelings do parents and children have towards one another, to what extent do they show mutual respect, even when they do not fully meet each other's expectations? Is the idea that 'my parent is my best friend' widely accepted (Van Wel, 1994)? In which areas do parents feel that they have failed in their efforts to understand and provide guidance to their children socially and emotionally and how is this perceived by (older) children? Which problems do parents and children share and which do they keep to themselves, and are there differences between single-parent and two-parent parent families and between Dutch and migrant families in this respect?

# 3.2.4 Relationships with other institutions

Relationships between parents and children are also shaped by the influence of other social institutions. Prospective parents might, for example, come into contact with the medical profession when wanting to start a family in the event of infertility or expected problems during childbirth. When people decide whether or not they want children, legislation and regulations governing the possibility to combine paid employment with children (childcare, part-time work and leave arrangements) come into play (Van Luijn, 1996; Jacobs, 1998). Social institutions can also affect the relationships between parents and their children. In the Netherlands, childcare is increasingly being delegated to third parties, especially for young children (daycare centres, nannies, so-called 'guest parents'). It would therefore be interesting to examine how parents express their commitment to their children in these cases and which parent has prime responsibility in this respect. Schools sometimes complain that parents are too involved in their children's school, and conversely, many parents are not satisfied with the quality of education and the way it is organised. The question here is how parents express their involvement in the school their children attend and to which extent they feel they need to stay in touch with the teachers. The same sorts of questions can be raised in relation to other activities in which children participate; how involved do parents get in the children's music and sports clubs, what do they find important, how much time and money do they spend on these kinds of things, and which parent has which responsibility in these matters?

The programme will also address questions about institutions with which parents may become involved should problems arise. For example, they may need to seek financial assistance from the social security services in the event of poverty and/or single parenthood, or they may turn to social workers, welfare officers or family support agencies, or to public health workers in the event of health problems.

#### 3.2.5 Causes and mechanisms

The main socio-structural factors that influence the formation, dissolution and structure of relationships within families are (the division of) labour, education and income. The reasons why people put off having children has been the focus of scientific research for many years (Bloom & Trussell, 1984; Rindfuss & St John, 1993; Blossfeld & Huinink, 1991). The development of theories on family formation is also still in full swing (White, Booth & Edwards, 1986; De Bruijn, 1999; Friedman et al., 1994; Van Luijn, 1996). An important new development is the growing attention for the role of both parents, rather than only that of the mother (Jacobs, 1998; Kalmijn, 1996; Corijn, Liefbroer & De Jong Gierveld, 1996; Oppenheimer, Kalmijn & Lim, 1997).

Dutch research into home-leaving patterns has barely touched on the role of income and employment (Baanders, 1998; Hooimeijer & Mulder, 1998) or that of the parents' resources (De Jong Gierveld et al., 1991). Various American and British studies have already underlined the importance of these factors on young people's decisions to leave the parental home (Aquilino, 1991; Avery et al., 1992; Buck & Scott, 1993; Murphy & Wang, 1998; Whittington & Peters, 1996).

When addressing the form and content of parent-child relationships, attention will be focused on decisions regarding the division of responsibilities between parents. Although this is a well-documented issue, little is known about the implications of this division of labour for the nature of the relationship between individual parents and their children. Other socio-structural factors that could affect the parent-child relationship are the family income level, the parents' living arrangement and the social environment in which the children are raised. The social environment includes issues such as the urban-rural difference, living in a multicultural or in a culturally homogenous neighbourhood, and the difference between families that form part of a close-knit social network and those that lead a fairly isolated existence.

Cultural factors that may influence the relationship between parents and children include norms and values regarding democratic family relationships, egalitarian attitudes about child rearing, and materialistic values. This also includes insight into discrepancies between the values cherished by the family and the values with which children come into contact in their social environment outside the family. It is not inconceivable that the diversity of norms and values to which children are exposed will grow in the future, and that parents will deal with this in a variety of ways. How do they help their children to find their way in the world, and do they expect them to embrace their own norms and values? Do different population categories differ strongly in this respect and to what extent do parents of non-Dutch descent want their children to adjust to their new cultural environment (Distelbrink, 1998; Pels, 1998; Brinkgreve & Van Stolk, 1996)?

As a result of changing norms and values about family relationships, fathers are now also giving more instrumental and emotional attention to their children (Doornenbal, 1996). This is making relationships between fathers, mothers and children more complex, partially owing to the fact that fathers still tend to depend on the information the mothers give them about their children's behaviour. Following on from this theme, it would be interesting to study what children expect of their parents in these matters and how they evaluate their relationships with their parents. Research has shown that fathers are becoming more involved in child development and family life (Van der Lippe & Niphuis-Nell, 1994; Kalmijn, 1999), and this could mean that the absence of the father (the 'dead beat' father) is increasingly felt to be undesirable (Lamb, Pleck & Levine, 1985; Smart & Neale, 1999).

#### 3.2.6 Social implications

Given the dependence of children on their parents, we can say that parents are generally expected to show considerable solidarity towards their children. The main question is therefore how the solidarity shown by parents manifests itself and why parents sometimes fail to succeed in doing what society expects of them. The programme will also study the implications of differences in the nature and degree of solidarity shown by parents. A 'lack' of solidarity could give rise to problems among their children and could lead to the erosion of family life. What the repercussions will be, will depend on a number of factors, including the question which obligations children feel they have towards their parents and which types of solidarity they expect and accept in the various phases of their lives. The programme will also seek to shed light on whether, and to what extent solidarity between parents and children has drawbacks. Children could, for example, find strong mutual solidarity with their parents too suffocating.

Solidarity within the family may also have an objective impact on the way the children function within as well as outside the family. To what extent are school performance, community participation, the development of social networks and the observance of norms and values related to (earlier) types of solidarity within the family?

## 3.3 Kin relationships

This part of the programme will address relationships between family members who do not live in the same household. This category includes relationships between parents and children who have left the parental home, between adult children and elderly parents, between grandchildren and their grandparents, between brothers and sisters, between cousins, nephews, nieces, aunts and uncles... in

short, the gamut of kin relationships. There has been less focus on these types of relationships within research on the family than on the two other types described. They could, nevertheless, act as a unifying force among individuals as well as in society at large.

# 3.3.1 Solidarity within kin relationships

The main issue underlying this part of the programme will be that solidarity within kin relationships is being eroded. This may be attributed to two developments. To begin with, demographic developments have fundamentally altered the size and composition of kinship networks (Post et al., 1997; Riley, 1983). These trends can be broken down into various components: [a] Delayed childbearing is resulting in a bigger 'distance' between successive generations. [b] The trend towards smaller families results is leading to a 'depletion' of family networks. [c] The rising divorce and remarriage rates are making kinship networks more complex and more diverse. [d] As a result of increased life expectancy more people today have elderly relatives, who often need help, for longer periods of time. [e] As a result of the trend towards smaller families and the extension of life expectancy, families are becoming 'top heavy': the number of elderly relatives is growing in relation to the number of younger relatives. The age structure of individual families reflects that of the population as a whole: both are ageing. With the advent of these new types of networks, people are faced with new dilemmas and dependencies for which society has not yet drawn up rules and routines (Hagestad, 1981; Riley & Riley, 1989, 1994). Kin relationships are often so complex that they are increasingly giving rise to conflicting loyalties. How should a child of divorced parents divide its attention between two bickering middle-aged parents, whose children should a remarried father take along to which family reunion, to what extent are the new and the former partners accepted by the family network?

The second development that has played a part in eroding kin relationships is individualisation (Hareven, 1994; Lasch, 1977). Certain macrostructural developments such as ongoing urbanisation and increased geographical mobility, changes in the labour market and the improved level of education are believed to have contributed to the shift towards a more individualistic society and are therefore felt to pose a potential threat to solidarity within kin relationships (Hammerström, 1993). Social norms have traditionally dictated that people need to show solidarity towards blood relations. These norms span a broad spectrum: they vary from the attention and support people are expected to give their elderly parents, to whether or not one should attend family reunions or a relative's birthday party. Solidarity used to be enforced by feelings of altruism towards one's relatives as well as by a certain sense of duty towards family members (Finch, 1989). The collective interest of the family has long prevailed over the desires and interests of individuals, and in certain ethnic groups this pattern still exists (Hareven, 1982; Vermeulen & Penninx, 1994). These norms have been eroded in recent decades and new norms have been established; this trend is generally subsumed under the term individualisation (Buchmann, 1989; Meyer, 1986, 1988). The central idea underlying this ideology is that people should stand on their own feet. An implication for kin relationships is, for example, that the elderly can no longer take the support they receive from relatives for granted, and that elderly relatives themselves now prefer to be less dependent on their families. Another concept underlying this ideology is that the formation of relationships, and the type of relationship people opt for, is, or should be, based on individual choice. People now tend to interact of their own free will and on the basis of mutual affection rather than out of a sense of obligation or duty. Research has shown, however, that a sense of obligation is still an important factor in family relationships, whereas achieved relationships, such as friends, tend to be based on mutual affection (Komter & Vollebergh, 1997). Having said that, a likely result of the process towards a more individualistic society will be that people will be less inclined to foster ties with family members if they derive little satisfaction from these relationships, and that friends and acquaintances will increasingly compete with relatives in people's social networks.

The two developments described above have made it more difficult for relatives to engender and continue to foster solidarity. Kin relationships have become more complex, and clearly defined norms and regulations have not yet been established for many of these new types of relationships. Despite this lack of clarity, however, more emphasis is now being placed on independence and individual choice in various realms of life, including people's kin relationships.

#### 3.3.2 The formation and dissolution of kin relationships

An important aim of the research programme will be to closely monitor patterns of kin relationships, and to identify the latest trends soon after they set in. The examination of the formation and dissolution of kin relationships is less relevant than is that of their structure and complexity.

An interesting exercise would be, for example, to examine the number of people of a certain age belonging to one-, two-, three-, four- and five-generation families. Another issue relates to the fact that certain generations may be 'missing' either because couples have never had any children or because they have survived their children, thus breaking the continuity of lineage. Information about situations of this sort would provide insight into the number of people that may be 'caught' between obligations towards minor children and duties towards very old parents (Brody, 1981). It would also shed light on the number of people who have no intergenerational embeddedness whatsoever, such as childless couples whose parents have died (Connidis, 1989; Johnson & Troll, 1992).

Another issue would be to examine the geographical dispersion of family members. Information about the distance between family members does not only tell us more about the implications of migration, but also about the efforts which relatives need to make to stay in contact with one another (Hammel & Yarbrough, 1973; Smith, 1998).

Another possible issue that could be addressed, is the number of people of a certain age that have both stepfamilies and consanguineal relations. This information would provide insight into the number of people who have relatively extensive kinship networks (with various sets of brothers and sisters, parents and grandparents). It would also tell us more about the number of people who may face conflicting obligations and loyalties within the family (Cherlin & Furstenberg, 1994; Furstenberg, 1981; Johnson, 1988; Spitze et al., 1994).

The extent to which members of different family generations are in the same phase of life (such as a son who, like his father who remarried later in life, has a small child, or situations where both mother and daughter are widowed, or in which both father and son are retired) would be another interesting question. The importance of this question is that a 'regular' basis for intergenerational relationships is lacking. 'Regular' in this context means that the respective parties are embedded in different phases of life, and with the responsibilities and interests that go with them.

#### 3.3.3 How solidarity is expressed: patterns and dynamics

The second question relates to the way in which kin relationships are given form and content. Which patterns can be discerned in the nature and degree of solidarity within kin relationships, and how does solidarity change during the course of people's lives? In order to answer this question, we shall address three types of solidarity: instrumental, social and emotional.

When addressing the issue of instrumental solidarity, the programme will focus on the way in which children support their parents in old age. This is a well-documented theme in the social sciences, but in view of its paramount importance, it will also be studied in the research programme (Mangen et al., 1988; Rossi & Rossi, 1990; Roberts & Bengston, 1991; Levitt et al., 1992). Various forms of support will be addressed: financial support, assistance with activities of daily life, help in the event of illness, etc. In so doing, the programme will provide insight into the implications of support for feelings of independence or dependence among both caregivers and those who receive care (Brody, 1985; Nolan et al., 1996). A less well-documented issue is instrumental support that is provided in the opposite direction: how, and to what extent, do parents help their non-co-resident children (Eggebeen, 1992; Klein Ikkink et al., in press). American research has shown that the exchange of care varies during the life course: a substantial amount of care is given to young adults; the amount of support received declines in middle age, but children do continue to provide care to their parents. Intergenerational reciprocity in support declines during the life course (Rossi & Rossi, 1990). The programme will pay special attention to the support offered by grandparents when members of the 'middle generation' face problems, for example following divorce (Johnson, 1988), or in combining family responsibilities and a job (Hochschild, 1997). Relatively little research has been conducted into

material transfers within families, and inheritance (De Regt, 1993; Soldo & Hill, 1993). Research into these issues has long been the exclusive domain of economics. A related question is the extent of intergenerational reciprocity in transfers of this sort. For example, are children who have received financial gifts from their parents more inclined to support their parents later in life (Henretta et al., 1977)? Possible exchange chains can be studied effectively with the aid of panel data and multi-actor data. Another important question is how people view these matters. Relatives may help one another out of altruism or a sense of duty, but exchange models may also have a rational basis (Antonji et al., 1992; Cox, 1987; Finch, 1989; Gouldner, 1960; Uehara, 1995; Komter & Vollebergh, 1997). In this light, it is interesting to study people's expectations towards each other. The answer to these questions provides insight into the degree to which rules regarding family roles are clearly defined (Rossi & Rossi, 1990).

The social dimension of solidarity is largely shaped by the amount of contacts relatives have. Apart from the frequency of contact, for example between brothers and sisters, between parents and their adult children and between grandparents and grandchildren, the social dimension of solidarity includes the nature of contact, such as shared leisure within kin relationships. So far, very little research has been done into the group of people who do not stay in touch with their relatives. The programme will take stock of the contacts people have and the reasons why people stay in contact with their relatives (Allan, 1979; Larson et al., 1986). Do they do this out of a sense of duty, for instrumental reasons (attending to business), because they enjoy it, or out of habit, for example to attend ritual events such as Christmas, birthdays or funerals?

The research programme will also address the issue of emotional solidarity. To what extent do people feel attachment to their relatives, how is this related to the biological distance to these relatives, and how does this change during the life course of the various relatives (Kahn & Antonucci, 1980; Rossi & Rossi, 1990)? The programme will address both the positive aspects of kin relationships and negative experiences, including the way in which people deal with them (Rusbult, 1987). Are conflicts avoided or neglected? Or are people forgiving when it comes to their relatives and are they inclined to deal with differences of opinion in a constructive manner?

Here, too, it would be interesting to look into the way in which the various dimensions of solidarity are interconnected. To what extent do exchange chains span the various domains of solidarity? For example, is social solidarity shown by children towards their parents exchanged for instrumental solidarity from parent to child? Do parents who receive a great deal of instrumental support from their children try to redress or keep the balance in parent-child relationships by giving them strong emotional support (Van Tilburg, 1998)? Another interesting question would be whether the various dimensions of solidarity are complementary, or whether they compete with one another. For example, does instrumental solidarity stand in the way of emotional solidarity?

#### 3.3.4 Relationships with other institutions

Kin relationships are bound up with various social institutions that have an impact on the manifestation of solidarity within these relationships, in particular with respect to instrumental exchanges (financial transfers, caregiving). A key issue is the nature of the relationship between government facilities and family support (Litwak, 1985; Soldo et al., 1989; Kohli, 1997). There is a lack of information about whether these formal and informal 'systems' reinforce each other, that is to say whether they support each other like 'communicating vessels'. Elderly parents, for example, may be able to provide financial support – either to uphold their status or out of feelings of altruism – to any of their children who are less well-off thanks to the guaranteed state incomes they receive. Alternatively, the two systems may substitute each other in the sense that the formal arrangements could make informal care redundant (Burgers, 1998; Komter et al., 1999). This issue is pivotal to the public debate about the provision of informal care: there appears to be some evidence that relatives tend to 'withdraw' from giving care to elderly family members given the availability of institutional care. Other areas in which social institutions come into play are laws of succession and tax regulations regarding material transfers (De Regt, 1993). It would be interesting to examine how legislation of this kind impacts solidarity within kin relationships.

#### 3.3.5 Causes and mechanisms

The programme will seek to gain insight into the causes of differences in solidarity among various kinds of kin relationships. Once again, we shall try to identify the causes by tracing a number of general socio-structural and cultural trends in society.

The programme will first examine socio-structural factors such as differences in solidarity between various subcategories: differences between the better and the lesser educated, between people in urban and rural areas, and differences between rich and poor. When addressing kin relationships, specific attention will be given to demographic factors since they determine the structure of kinship networks, which in turn will influence the nature of the relationships within these networks. One issue that could be studied, for example, is the nature and degree of solidarity among members of small families compared with members of larger families (Uhlenberg & Cooney, 1995). An open question is whether people with small family networks are 'worse' off than people with large networks, or, conversely, whether people in small families have particularly strong ties with one another. The degree of solidarity among kin is determined by the complexity of family ties as well as by the size of the family network (Hagestad, 1981). For example, family networks that used to be separate are now becoming closely intertwined through divorce and remarriage, and this could give rise to conflicting loyalties within networks that stand in the way of solidarity (Riley, 1983).

This part of the programme will also study cultural factors, in particular the question as to how elements of the trend towards a more individualistic society affect kin relationships. Do people who cherish autonomy and individual freedom of choice have weaker bonds with family members, or is it mainly the nature of their relationships with kin that differs? One would, for example, expect these groups to place emphasis on emotional solidarity in kin relationships rather than on social or instrumental solidarity. The number of relatives with whom these people maintain contact is therefore likely to be smaller, yet the emotional bonds with the 'select' group of relatives with whom they associate are likely to be stronger.

Another cultural factor the programme will address extensively are the family norms and values of different ethnic groups in society (Vermeulen & Penninx, 1994). These groups are more likely to face new and unknown situations for which solutions need to be found than any other group in society. After all, within migrant families intergenerational relationships arise not only between people who live in different historical periods, but also between people who have their roots in different cultures: the culture of the country of origin, the culture at home and that outside the home in the host country. A new phenomenon in migrant families is the ageing trend (Tesser et al., 1998). Whilst the number of migrants aged 65 and older was negligible in the past decades, this group is now growing rapidly. When addressing the norms and values of ethnic minorities, attention should also be paid to the family norms and values of religious subgroups, both migrant and non-migrant.

#### 3.3.6 Social implications

The programme will also seek to provide insight into the implications of kinship networks for the way in which people function within society. Once again, both subjective and objective aspects will be addressed. The key issue is whether strong kinship networks result in greater individual well-being, less loneliness, and more active participation in society. When looking at kinship networks, a number of specific questions come to the fore, such as the question whether families are a unifying force in the sense that they can bridge the gap between various cohorts. Families are, after all, one of the contexts where individuals who have their roots in different historical periods are able to meet and interact. The elderly give the younger generations a window on the past. The younger family members, in their turn, can keep the elderly informed about the lifestyles and mores of their time, and keep them abreast of new social, cultural and technological developments.

# 4 Financial and organisational framework of the research programme

In this final chapter, we put forward proposals for the organisational framework of the research programme and we set out details of the budget needed for its successful implementation.

#### 4.1 Organisation of the research programme

The research programme aims to promote the scientific study of family sociology and demography in the Netherlands. In a report drawn up by the Social Science Council, entitled *New Perspectives for Family Sociology*, the Council underlines that a programme of this sort should focus on two separate goals. It should encourage the development of one or more centres of expertise that conduct top-quality sociological research into primary living arrangements, whilst at the same time integrating and coordinating research activities by scholars who work within and outside these centres. The programme aims to contribute in particular to the realisation of the second goal formulated by the Social Science Council (SWR), by providing a framework for research efforts by scholars specialised in this field. The first goal formulated by the SWR will be realised primarily by the investments which institutions are prepared to make within the framework of the programme that is to finance the data collection. To this end, Utrecht University and the Netherlands Interdisciplinary Demographic Institute have joined forces and have submitted a proposal as part of NWO's 'Investeringen Groot' Programme.

In our view, responsibility for the research programme should lie with a programme steering committee. The steering committee would be responsible for mapping out the areas of research to be covered in order to answer the key research questions of the programme and supervise its implementation. It would also ensure that the various research questions and types of family ties are adequately represented in the research programme as a whole. The members of the programme steering committee should have a clear affinity with the area of research and should represent a broad spectrum of relevant expertise and institutions.

Research carried out as part of the programme should meet high scientific quality standards. It should, at the same time, be relevant to society at large. Cooperation between scientists and representatives of major social organizations in the field of family issues is crucial in this respect. We propose that the contribution of civic society be guaranteed by including a number of (2 to 3) representatives of the social arena as advisory members (without voting rights) on the steering committee. A set-up of this sort would ensure that communication lines between the scientific community and civic society be kept as short as possible.

The programme steering committee would stimulate the transfer of knowledge and promote cooperation between the programme participants and other researchers in this field. It would do so by organising seminars on a regular basis (about 3 times a year). During these seminars, participants in the programme will discuss research plans and results. This approach would strengthen cohesion within the programme as a whole.

#### 4.2 Budget required for the research programme

The research programme sets out a broad area of research that includes three types of questions relating to three types of family relationships. The description of the research questions in chapter 3 shows that there is scope for, and a need for a broad spectrum of research. This implies that an all-out effort will have to be made to provide satisfactory answers to the key research questions posed. An equitable division of attention and resources among the various research question and types of family relationships is vital. In our view, this will require the financing of about six fully-fledged research proposals for each type of family relationship. At the same time, resources should be made available for integrative research, focusing on solidarity within kinship networks as a whole and examining possible links between solidarity within various types of family relationships. Each research proposal will require funds totalling about NLG 0.3 million to finance their implementation by PhD students, or the appointment of post-docs for a period of three years. Another possibility would be to earmark

part of the funds available for the project for so-called replacement subsidies with which the teaching responsibilities of senior research associates could be bought out.

In addition to the resources needed to finance the research proposals, funds will have to be set aside for the organisation of the seminar series and conferences at which the research results will be exchanged and presented to a wider public. Two conferences will be planned for each theme. The programme will be closed by a conference at which the main results will be presented.

# References

- Akker, P. van den, Cuyvers, P., & Hoog, C. de (1992). Gezin en overheid: De mythe van de individualisering. *Gezin: Tijdschrift voor primaire leefvormen, 4*, 141-156.
- Akker, P.A.M. van den (1994). Attitudes in de primaire relatiesfeer: Stabiliteit of verandering? *Sociale Wetenschappen*, *37*, 1-29.
- Allan, G. (1979). A sociology of friendship and kinship. London: Allen & Unwin.
- Antonij, R.G., Fumio, H., & Kotlikoff, L.J. (1992). Is the extended family altruistically linked? Direct tests using micro data. *American Economic Review*, 82, 1177-1198.
- Aquilino, W.S. (1991). Family structure and home leaving: A further specification of the relationship. *Journal of Family Issues*, 12, 323-342.
- Avery, R., Goldscheider, F., & Speare, A., Jr. (1992). Feathered nest/gilded cage: parental income and leaving home in the transition to adulthood. *Demography*, 29, 375-388.
- Van der Avort, A.J.P.M. (1987). De gulzige vrij-blijvendheid van expliciete relaties. Tilburg: Tilburg University Press.
- Axinn, W.G., & Barber, J.S. (1997). Living arrangements and family formation attitudes in early adulthood. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, *59*, 595-611.
- Axinn, W.G., & Thornton, A. (1992). The relationship between cohabitation and divorce: selectivity or causal influence? *Demography*, 29, 357-374.
- Baanders, A.N. (1998). *Leavers, planners and dwellers. The decision to leave the parental home.* Wageningen: Wageningen Agricultural University (thesis).
- Bachrach, C.A. (1987). Cohabitation and reproductive behavior in the U.S. Demography, 24, 623-637.
- Becker, G.S. (1991) [1981]. A treatise on the family. Enlarged edition. Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press
- Beets, G.C.N. (1998). Uitgesteld ouderschap: Een literatuuronderzoek. Den Haag: NIDI Working Paper 1997/8.
- Beets, G.C.N., Bouwens, A., & Schippers, J.J. (1997). *Uitgesteld ouderschap*. Amsterdam: Thesis Publishers.
- Beets, G.C.N., Liefbroer, A.C., & De Jong Gierveld, J. (1997). Combining employment and parenthood: A longitudinal study of intentions of Dutch young adults. *Population Research and Policy Review*, *16*, 457-474.
- Bellah, R.N., Madsen, R., Sullivan, W.M., Swidler, A., & Tipton, S.M. (1985). *Habits of the heart: individualism and commitment in american life*. New York: Harper & Row.
- Bengtson, V.L. & H. Achenbaum (Eds.) (1993), *The changing contract across generations*. New York: Aldine de Gruyter.
- Bengtson, V.L., & Roberts, R.E.L. (1991). Intergenerational solidarity in aging families: An example of formal theory construction. *Journal of Marriage and the Family, 53*, 856-870.
- Berkel, M. van. (1997). Who dominates when? Asymmetrical patterns of influence among Dutch husbands and wives. Nijmegen: Catholic University Nijmegen (thesis).
- Bernasco, W. (1994). Coupled careers. The effects of spouse's resources on success at work. Amsterdam: Thesis Publishers.
- Bloom, D.E., & Trussell, J. (1984). What are the determinants of delayed childbearing and permanent childlessness in the United States? *Demography*, 21, 591-611.
- Blossfeld, H.P. (Ed.) (1995). The New Role of Women. Family Formation in Modern Societies. Boulder, Col.: Westview
- Blossfeld, H.-P., & Huinink, J. (1991). Human capital investments or norms of role transition? How women's schooling and career affect the process of family formation. *American Journal of Sociology*, 97, 143-168.
- Boer, F., Dekovi□, M., Rispens, J., & Smid, G.A. (1998). *Vaders*. Speciale uitgave van *Kind en Adolescent*, 1998/1. Houten: Bohn Stafleu Van Loghum.
- Bois-Reymond, M. du (1997). De verschuiving van bevel naar onderhandelen. Een theoretisch-empirische beschouwing. In S. Grotenhuis & J. van der Zwaard (Eds.), *Kiezen voor kinderen. Gezin en beleid* (pp. 69-76). Utrecht: Elsevier.
- Bois-Reymond, M. du (1998). 'I don't want to commit myself yet': Young people's life concepts. *Journal of Youth Studies*, 1, 63-79.
- Bonney, N., & Love, J. (1991). Gender and migration: geographical mobility and the wife's sacrifice. *The Sociological Review*, *39*, 335-348.
- Booth, A., Johnson, D. R., White, L., & Edwards, J. N. (1984). Women, outside employment, and marital instability. *American Journal of Sociology*, *90*, 567-583.
- Bosman, R., & Louwes, R. (1988). Eenouder- en tweeoudergezinnen en schoolloopbanen. *Mens en Maatschappij*, 63, 5-23.
- Bosman, R. (1993). Opvoeden in je eentje: Een onderzoek naar de betekenis van het moedergezin voor onderwijskansen van kinderen. Lisse: Swets & Zeitlinger.

- Bosveld, W. (1996). *The ageing of fertility in Europe. A comparative demographic-analytic study*. Amsterdam: Thesis Publishers.
- Brink, G. van den (1997). Hoge eisen, ware liefde. Utrecht: NIZW.
- Brinkgreve, C., & Korzec, M. (1978). 'Margriet weet raad'. Gevoel, gedrag, moraal in Nederland 1938-1978. Utrecht: Het Spectrum.
- Brinkgreve, C. & Stolk, B. van (1997). Van huis uit. Wat ouders aan hun kinderen willen meegeven. Amsterdam: Meulenhoff.
- Brody, E.M. (1981). 'Women in the middle' and family help to older people. *The Gerontologist, 21*, 471-480.
- Brody, E.M. (1985). Parent care as a normative family stress. The Gerontologist, 25, 19-29.
- Broese van Groenou, M. I. (1991). Gescheiden netwerken: De relaties met vrienden en verwanten na echtscheiding. Dissertatie Rijksuniversiteit Utrecht.
- Bruijn, B.J. (1999). Foundations of demographic theory. Choice, process, context. Amsterdam: Thela Thesis. Buchmann, M. (1989). The script of life in modern society: Entry into adulthood in a changing world, Chicago/London: University of Chicago Press.
- Buck, N., & Scott, J. (1993), She is leaving home, but why? An analysis of young people leaving the parental home. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 55, 863-874.
- Burgers, J. (1998). The relation between formal and informal solidarity: substitution or communicating vessels? *Sociale Wetenschappen*, 41, 38-54.
- Bussemaker, J., A. Van Drenth, T. Knijn & J. Plantenga, (1997). Lone mothers in the Netherlands. In J. Lewis (ed.) *Lone Mothers in European Welfare Regimes*. (pp. 96-120). London: Jessica Kingsley Publishers.
- Buunk, B.P., & Driel, B. van (1989). Variant lifestyles and relationships. Newbury Park: Sage.
- Buunk, B., & Nijskens, J. (1980). Communicatie en satisfactie in intieme relaties. Gedrag, 8, 240-260.
- CBS (1994). Relatie- en gezinsvorming in de jaren negentig. Voorburg: CBS.
- Cherlin, A.J., & Furstenberg, F.F. Jr. (1994). Stepfamilies in the United States: A reconsideration. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 20, 359-381.
- Clark, W.A.V., & Dieleman, F.M. (1996). *Households and housing: Choice and outcomes in the housing market*. New Brunswick: Centre for Urban Policy Research.
- Connidis, I.A. (1989). Family ties and aging. Toronto: Harcourt Brace.
- Cooke, T.J., & Bailey, A.J. (1996). Family migration and the employment of married women and men. *Economic Geography*, 72, 38-48.
- Cooney, T. M., & Uhlenberg, P. (1990). The role of divorce in men's relations with their adult children after mid-life. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 52, 677-688.
- Cordon, J.A.F. (1997). Youth residential independence and autonomy; a comparative study. *Journal of Family Issues*, *18*, 576-607.
- Corijn, M., Liefbroer, A.C., & De Jong Gierveld, J. (1996). It takes two to tango, doesn't it? The influence of couple characteristics on the timing of the birth of the first child. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 58, 117-126
- Courgeau, D., & Lelièvre, E. (1992). Interrelations between first home-ownership, constitution of the family, and professional occupation in France. In J. Trussell, R. Hankinson, & J. Tilton (Eds.), *Demographic applications of event history analysis*. (pp. 120-140). Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Cox, D. (1987). Motives for private income transfers. Journal of Political Economy, 95, 509-546.
- Dijst, M. (1995). *Het elliptisch leven. Actieruimte als integrale maat voor bereik en mobiliteit.* Utrecht/Delft: KNAG/TU Delft (Nederlandse Geografische Studies 196).
- Distelbrink, M. (1998). Opvoeding in Surinaams-Creoolse gezinnen in Nederland. Assen: Van Gorcum
- Dobbelaere, K. (1981). Secularization: A multi-dimensional concept. Current Sociology, 29 (2), 1-213.
- Dongen, M.C.P. van, Frinking, G.A.B., & Jacobs, M.J.G. (eds.) (1995), *Changing fatherhood. A multidisciplinary perspective*. Amsterdam: Thesis Publishers.
- Dooghe, G. (1992). Informal caregivers of elderly people. An European overview. *Ageing and Society, 12*, 369-380
- Doornenbal, J. (1996). Ouderschap als onderneming. Moeders en vaders over opvoeden in de jaren negentig. Utrecht: Jan van Arkel.
- Dronkers, J. (1997). Zoals de ouden zongen, piepen de jongen. Intergenerationele overdracht van de kans op scheiding in Nederland. *Mens en Maatschappij*, 72, 149-165.
- Droogleever Fortuijn, J. (1993). *Een druk bestaan. Tijdsbesteding en ruimtegebruik van tweeverdieners met kinderen.* Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press
- Dykstra, P.A. (1990). Next of (non)kin: The importance of primary relationships for older adults' well-being. Amsterdam/Lisse, the Netherlands: Swets & Zeitlinger. Proefschrift Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam.
- Dykstra, P. (1991). Arbeidsmarktparticipatie van vrouwen en vruchtbaarheid. In N. van Nimwegen & H. van Solinge (Eds.) *Bevolkingsvraagstukken in Nederland anno 1991: demografische ontwikkelingen in maatschappelijk perspectief* (pp. 167-177). 's Gravenhage: Nederlands Interdisciplinair Demografisch Instituut)

- Dykstra, P.A. (1992). De betekenis van vrienden en familie voor het welbevinden van ouderen. In J. R.M. Gerris (Eds.), *Opvoedings- en gezinsondersteuning* (pp. 189-206). Amsterdam/Lisse, the Netherlands: Swets & Zeitlinger.
- Dykstra, P.A. (1998). The effects of divorce on intergenerational exchanges in families. *The Netherlands Journal of Social Sciences*, *33*, 77-93.
- Dykstra, P.A. (1998). De lange-termijn gevolgen van een ongelukkige jeugd. In M. Junger & J. Dronkers (Eds.), *Daders, slachtoffers en andere tegenslag*. Boekaflevering *Mens en Maatschappij*, 73, 19-47.
- Dykstra, P.A., & Knipscheer, C.P.M. (1995). The availability and intergenerational structure of family relationships. In C.P.M. Knipscheer, J. de Jong Gierveld, T.G. van Tilburg & P.A. Dykstra (Eds.), *Living arrangements and social networks of older adults* (pp. 38-58). Amsterdam: VU University Press.
- Eggebeen, D.J. (1992). From generation unto generation.: Parent-child support in aging American families. *Generations*, 17, 45-50.
- Esveldt, I, & Kulu-Glasgow, I. (1994). Gezinsvorming bij vrouwen van Turkse of Marokkaanse afkomst in Nederland: een literatuuronderzoek. *Bevolking en Gezin, 1994*, 53-96.
- Finch, J. (1989). Family obligations and social change. Cambridge, England: Polity Press.
- Forest, K.B., Moen, P., & Dempster-McClain, D. (1995). Cohort differences in the transition to motherhood: the variable effects of education and employment before marriage. *The Sociological Quarterly*, *36*, 315-336.
- Friedman, D., Hechter, M., & Kanazawa, S. (1994). A theory of the value of children. *Demography*, 31, 375-401.
- Furstenberg, F.F. Jr. (1981). Remarriage and intergenerational relations. In R.W. Fogel, E. Hatfield, S.B. Kiesler & E. Shanas (Eds.), Aging, stability and change in the family (pp. 115-142). New York: Academic Press.
- Furstenberg, F. F., & Cherlin, A. J. (1991). *Divided families: What happens to children when parents part*. Cambridge, MA: Harvard University Press.
- Ganzeboom, H.B.G., Treiman, D., & Ultee, W. (1991). Comparative intergenerational stratification research: Three generations and beyond. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 17, 227-302.
- Giddens, A. (1992) The Transformation of Intimacy. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Giesen, D. & Kalmijn, M. (1997). Samen of apart bankieren? Een onderzoek naar het geldbeheer van gehuwd en ongehuwd samenwonende paren. *Mens en Maatschappij*, 72, 21-39.
- Giesen, D. (1999). Juridische arrangementen. In *Huwelijks- en samenwoonrelaties in Nederland: De organisatie van afhankelijkheid*, M. Kalmijn, W. Bernasco & J. Weesie (eds.). Assen: Van Gorcum.
- Goldscheider, F. (1997). Recent changes in U.S. young adult living arrangements in comparative perspective. *Journal of Family Issues*, *18*, 708-724.
- Goldscheider, F., Thornton, A., & Young-DeMarco, L. (1993). A portrait of the nest-leaving process in early adulthood. *Demography*, 30, 683-699.
- Gouldner, A.W. (1960). The norm of reciprocity: A preliminary statement. *American Sociological Review*, 25, 161-175.
- Graaf, P. de, & Ultee, W. (1991). Labour market transitions of husbands and wives in the Netherlands between 1980 and 1986. A contribution to the debate on the new underclass. *The Netherlands' Journal of Social Sciences*, 27, 43-59.
- Green, A.E. (1997). A question of compromise? Case study evidence on the location and mobility strategies of dual career households. *Regional Studies*, *31*, 641-657.
- Grotenhuis, S., & Zwaard, J. van der (Eds.) (1997). *Kiezen voor kinderen. Gezin en beleid.* Utrecht: Elsevier/De Tijdstroom/NGR.
- Hagestad, G.O. (1981). Problems and promises in the social psychology of intergenerational relations. In R.W. Fogel, E. Hatfield, S.B. Kiesler & E. Shanas (Eds.), *Aging: Stability and Change in the Family*, (pp. 11-46). New York: Academic.Press.
- Hagestad, G.O., & Neugarten, B.L. (1985). Age and the life course. In R.H. Binstock & E. Shanas (Eds.), *Handbook of aging and the social sciences*, Volume 2 (pp. 35-61). New York: Van Nostrand Reinhold.
- Hakim, C. (1998). Social change and innovation in the labour market. Evidence from the census SARs on occupational segregation and labour mobility, part-time work and student jobs, homework and self-employment. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Hall, D.R. (1996). Marriage as a pure relationship: exploring the link between premarital cohabitation and divorce in Canada. *Journal of Comparative Family Studies*, 27, 1-12.
- Hammel, E., & Yarbrough, C. (1973). Social mobility and the durability of family ties. *Journal of Anthropological Research*, 29, 145-163.
- Hammerström, G. (1993). Solidarity and values in three generations. In H. Becker, P.L. Hermkens, (eds), *Solidarity of generations. Demographic, economic and social change.* Amsterdam: Thesis (Vol. I en II).
- Hareven, T.K. (1982). Family time and industrial time. New York: Cambridge University Press.

- Hareven, T.K. (1994). Family change and historical change: An uneasy relationship. In M.W. Riley, R.H. Kahn & A. Foner (Eds.), *Age and structural lag* (pp. 130-150). New York: Wiley Interscience.
- Harris, C. (1983). The family and industrial society. London: Allen and Unwin.
- Henretta, J.C. (1987). Family transitions, housing market context, and first home purchase by young married households. *Social Forces*, *66*, 520-536.
- Henretta, J.C., Hill, M.S., Li, W., Soldo, B.J., & Wolf, D.A. (1997). Selection of children to provide care: The effect of earlier parental transfers. *The Journals of Gerontology*, *52B* [Special issue], 110-119.
- Hill, M.S. (1988). Marital stability and spouses' shared time. Journal of Family Issues, 9, 427-51.
- Hochschild, A. (1997). *The time bind: When work becomes home and home becomes work*. New York: Metropolitan Books.
- Hondius, D. (1999). *Gemengde huwelijken, gemengde gevoelens. Aanvaarding en ontwijking van etnisch en religieus verschil sinds 1945*. Den Haag: SDU Uitgevers.
- Hoog, C. de (1996). De hernieuwde belangstelling voor een gezinsbeleid. *Tijdschrift voor familie- en jeugdrecht, 18*, 175-178.
- Hooghiemstra, B.T., & M. Niphuis-Nell (1993): Sociale atlas van de vrouw. Deel 2: Arbeid, inkomen en faciliteiten om werken en de zorg voor kinderen te combineren. Rijswijk/Den Haag: SCP/VUGA
- Hooghiemstra, E. & M. Niphuis-Nell, (1995). *Sociale atlas van de vrouw. Deel 3: allochtone vrouwen*. Rijswijk: Sociaal en Cultureel Planbureau.
- Hooghiemstra, E. & T. Knijn, (1997). Onder moeders paraplu. In G. Engbersen, J.C. Vrooman & E. Snel (Eds.) *De Kwetsbaren. Tweede jaarapport armoede en sociale uitsluiting.* (pp. 103-122). Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press
- Hooimeijer, P., & Mulder, C.H. (1998). Changing ways of leaving the parental home: With a partner or alone. In A. Kuijsten, H. De Gans, & H. De Feijter (Eds.), *The joy of demography... and other disciplines.* (pp. 137-151). Amsterdam: Thela Thesis.
- Iedema, J., Becker, H.A., & Sanders, K. (1997). Transitions into independence: A comparison of cohorts born since 1930 in the Netherlands. *European Sociological Review*, 13, 117-137.
- Inglehart, R. (1977). The silent revolution: changing values and political styles among Western publics. Princeton, NJ: Princeton University Press.
- Jacobs, M.J.G. (1998). Vaders in spe. Over de kinderwens van mannen en hun voorstelling van het vaderschap. Lisse: Swets & Zeitlinger.
- Jamieson, L. (1998). Intimacy. Personal relationships in modern societies. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Janssen, J.P.G., Poortman, A., De Graaf, P.M. & Kalmijn, M. (1998). De instabiliteit van huwelijken en samenwoonrelaties in Nederland. *Mens en Maatschappij*, 73, 4-26.
- Johnson, C.L. (1988). Ex Familia: Grandparents, parents and children adjust to divorce. New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press.
- Johnson, C.L., & Troll, L. (1992). Family functioning in late life. Journal of Gerontology, 47, S66-S72.
- Jong Gierveld, J. de (1997). Armoede en isolement: Oudere alleenwonende vrouwen in Nederland. In G. Engbersen, J.C. Veerman & E. Snel (Eds.), *Kwetsbaren: Tweede jaarrapport armoede en sociale uitsluiting* (pp. 177-193). Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press.
- Jong Gierveld, J., Liefbroer, A.C., & Beekink, E. (1991). The effect of parental resources on patterns of leaving home among young adults in the Netherlands. *European Sociological Review*, 7, 55-71.
- Jong Gierveld, J. de, & Tilburg, T.G. van (1995). Social relationships, integration and loneliness. In C.P.M. Knipscheer, J. de Jong Gierveld, T.G. van Tilburg & P.A. Dykstra (Eds.), *Living arrangements and social networks of older adults* (pp. 155-172). Amsterdam: VU University Press.
- Jonker, J.M.L. (1990). *In de ban van het gezin: Enige beschouwingen over de betekenis van primaire netwerken als vangnet.* Afscheidsrede, Katholieke Universiteit Nijmegen.
- Kaa, D.J. van der (1987). Europe's second demographic transition. *Population Bulletin, 42*, 1, whole issue.
- Kahn, R.L., & Antonucci, T.C. (1980). Convoys over the life course: Attachment, roles and social support. In P.B. Baltes & O. Brim (Eds.), *Life-span development and behavior* (Vol. 3, pp. 253-286). New York: Academic Press.
- Kalmijn, M. (1994). Gehuwd of ongehuwd: ontwikkelingen en verklaringen van samenwonen sinds de Tweede Wereldoorlog. *Sociale Wetenschappen*, 37, 34-64.
- Kalmijn, M. (1996). Effecten van opleidingsniveau, duur, en richting op het tijdstip waarop partners hun eerste kind krijgen. *Bevolking en Gezin*, 41-71.
- Kalmijn, M. (1998). Intermarriage and homogamy: Causes, patterns, trends. *Annual Review of Sociology*, 24, 395-421.
- Kalmijn, M. (1999). Father involvement in childrearing and the perceived stability of marriage. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 61, 409-421.
- Kalmijn, M. & Bernasco, W. (1999). De gezamenlijkheid van leefstijlen. In *Huwelijks- en samenwoonrelaties in Nederland: De organisatie van afhankelijkheid*, M. Kalmijn, W. Bernasco & J. Weesie (eds.). Assen: Van Gorcum.

- Kalmijn, M., Bernasco, W. & Weesie, J. (1999). *Huwelijks- en samenwoonrelaties in Nederland: De organisatie van afhankelijkheid.* Assen: Van Gorcum.
- Kingston, P.W., & Nock, S.L. (1987). Time together among dual-earner couples. *American Sociological Review*, 52, 391-400.
- Klein Ikkink, C.E., Tilburg, T.G. van, & Knipscheer, C.P.M. (in press). Perceived instrumental support exchanges in relationships between elderly parents and their adult children: Normative and structural explanations. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*.
- Klijzing, F.K.H. (1992). 'Weeding' in the Netherlands: First-union disruption among men and women born between 1928 and 165. *European Sociological Review*, 8, 53-70.
- Kloeze, J.W. te, Hoog, K. de, Bergen, M. van, & Duivenvoorden, M. (1996). *Tussen vrijheid en gebondenheid. Het postmoderne gezin ontdekt*. Leuven/Apeldoorn: Garant.
- Knijn, T. (1994). Fish without bikes. Revision of the Dutch Welfare State and its consequences for the (in)dependence of single mothers. Social Politics: International Studies in Gender, State and Society, 1, 83-105
- Knijn, T. & Van Wel, F. (1999). Zorgen voor de kost. Alleenstaande moeders en de nieuwe bijstandswet. Utrecht: SWP-Uitgeverij.
- Knipscheer, C.P.M. (1980). Oude mensen en hun sociale omgeving. Den Haag: VUGA.
- Knipscheer, C.P.M. (1990). Ouder worden, familie en intergenerationele betrokkenheid. Assen/Maastricht: Van Gorcum.
- Kohli, M. (1997). Beziehungen un Transfers zwischen den Generationen: Vom Staat zurück zur Familie? In L.A. Vaskovics (Hrgs.), *Familienleitbilder und Familienrealitäten* (pp. 278-288). Opladen: Leske & Budrich.
- Komter, A.E. (1996). The gift: An interdisciplinary perspective. Amsterdam: Amsterdam University Press.
- Komter, A., Burgers, J. & Engbersen, E. (1999). *Het cement van de samenleving. Een verkennende studie naar solidariteit en cohesie*. Utrecht/Rotterdam: ASWB-Research Report (in press).
- Komter, A. & Vollebergh, W. (1997). Gift giving and the emotional significance of family and friends. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 59, 747-757.
- Kooy, G.A. (1975). Seksualiteit, huwelijk en gezin in Nederland. Deventer: Van Loghum Slaterus.
- Kooy, G.A. (1984). *Huwelijkswelslagen in Nederland. Een vergelijking tussen 1967 en 1983*. Wageningen: Mededelingen van de Vakgroepen Sociologie van de Landbouwhogeschool (no. 13).
- Kronjee, G. (1991). *Veranderingen in de levenscyclus, demografische veroudering en collectieve sociale uitgaven*. Dissertatie Rijksuniversiteit Utrecht.
- Kuijsten, A.C. (1992). Demografische ontwikkelingen. Gezin: Tijdschrift voor primaire leefvormen, 4, 170-185.
- Kuijsten, A.C., & Klijzing, F.K.H. (1990). Domestic histories in the Netherlands: A comparison of generations. In H.A. Becker (ed.), *Life histories and generations* (pp. 308-340). Utrecht/ISOR.
- Kuijsten, A.C., & Schulze, H.J. (1997). The Netherlands: The latent family. In F.X. Kaufmann, A.C. Kuijsten, H.J. Schulze & K.P. Strohmeier (eds.), *Family life and family policies in Europe, volume 1. Structures and trends in the 1980s* (pp. 253-301). Oxford: Clarendon Press.
- Lamb, M.E., J.H. Pleck & J.A. Levine (1985). The role of the father in child development. In B.B. Lahey & A.E. Kazdin (eds.) *Advances in clinical child psychology 8*. Pp. 229-266 New York: Plenum.
- Lange, P.A.M. van, Agnew, C.R., Harinck, F., & Steemers, G.E.M. (1997). From game theory to real life: How social value orientation affects willingness to sacrifice in ongoing close relationships. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 73, 1330-1344.
- Lange, P.A.M. van, Otten, W., Bruijn, E.M.N. de, & Joireman, J.A. (1997). Development of prosocial, individualistic, and competitive orientations: Theory and preliminary evidence. *Journal of Personality and Social Psychology*, 73, 733-746.
- Langeveld, H.M. (1985). Binding in vrijheid. Een studie naar toekomstige gezinnen, relaties en hulpverlening. Den Haag: Staatsuitgeverij.
- Larson, R., Mannell, R., & Zuzanek, J. (1986). Daily well-being of older adults with friends and family. *Psychology and Aging, 1*, 117-126.
- Lasch, C. (1977). Haven in a heartless world. New York: Basic Books.
- Laslett, P. (1979). The world we have lost. London: Methuen.
- Latten, J.J. (1993). Levensloop in beweging. In C. Brinkgreve, J. Latten & W. Meeus (Eds.), *Binding in de levensloop* (pp. 206-225). Themanummer *Gezin: Tijdschrift voor Primaire Leefvormen, 5(4)*.
- Leridon, H. (1990). Extra-marital cohabitation and fertility. *Population Studies*, 44, 469-487.
- Lesthaeghe, R. (1983). A century of demographic and cultural change in Western Europe: an exploration of underlying dimensions. *Population and Development Review*, *9*, 411-435.
- Lesthaeghe, R. (Ed.) (1996). Diversiteit in sociale verandering. Turkse en Marokkaanse vrouwen in België. *Bevolking en Gezin*, Boekaflevering 1996.

- Lesthaeghe, R., & Surkyn, J. (1988). Cultural dynamics and economic theories of fertility change. *Population and Development Review, 14*, 1-45.
- Lesthaeghe, R., & Van de Kaa, D.J. (1986). Twee demografische transities? In D.J. van de Kaa & R. Lesthaeghe (Eds.), *Bevolking: Groei en krimp* (pp. 9-24). Deventer: Van Loghum Slaterus.
- Levitt, M.J., Guacci N. & Weber, R.A. (1992). Intergenerational support, relationship quality, and well-being. A bicultural analysis. *Journal of Family Issues*, *13*, 465-481.
- Lichter, D.T., McLaughlin, D.K., & Ribar, D.C. (1997). Welfare and the rise in female-headed families. *American Journal of Sociology*, 103, 112-143.
- Liefbroer, A.C. (1991): Kiezen tussen ongehuwd samenwonen en trouwen. Proefschrift Vrije Universiteit Amsterdam.
- Liefbroer, A.C. (1998). Gezinsklimaat: Tolerant, maar minder vrijblijvend. Demos, 14, 20-23.
- Liefbroer, A.C., & Corijn, M. (1999). Who, what, where and when? Specifying the impact of educational attainment and labour force participation on family formation. *European Journal of Population*.
- Lippe, T. van der (1993). Arbeidsverdeling tussen mannen en vrouwen. Dissertatie Rijksuniversiteit Utrecht.
- Lippe, T. Van der (1997). Verdeling van onbetaalde arbeid, 1975-1995. In M. Niphuis-Nell (Ed.), *Sociale atlas van de vrouw. Deel 4: Veranderingen in de primaire leefsfeer* (pp. 117-158). Rijswijk: Sociaal en Cultureel Planbureau.
- Lippe, T. van der, & Niphuis-Nell, M. (1994). De taakverdeling thuis 1975-1990. *Tijdschrift voor Arbeidsvraagstukken*, 10, 266-279.
- Litwak, E. (1985). Helping the elderly: The complementary roles of informal networks and formal systems. New York: Guildford.
- Luijn, H. van, (1996) Het vrouwelijk dilemma. Besluitvorming van vrouwen met een ambivalente kinderwens. Leiden: DSWO Press.
- Maccoby, E.E. & J.A. Martin, (1983). Socialization in the context of the family: Parent-child interaction. In E.M. Hetherington (ed.) *Handbook of Child Psychology: vol. 4. Socialization, Personality and Development* (pp. 1-101). New York: John Wiley.
- Mangen, D.J., Bengtson, V.L. & Landry, P.H. (Eds). (1988). *Measurement of intergenerational relations*. New York: Sage.
- Mangen, D.J., & Young McChesney, K. (1988). Intergenerational cohesion. A comparison of linear and nonlinear analytical approaches. In D.J. Mangen, V.L. Bengtson & P.H. Landry Jr. (Eds.), *Measurement of intergenerational relations* (pp. 208-221). Beverly Hills: Sage.
- Manning, W.D. (1995). Cohabitation, marriage, and entry into motherhood. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 57, 191-200.
- Manting, D. (1994). *Dynamics in marriage and cohabitation. An inter-temporal, life course analysis of first union formation and dissolution.* Amsterdam: Thesis Publishers/PDOD.
- Manting, D. (1996). The changing meaning of cohabitation and marriage. *European Sociological Review*, 12, 53-65.
- McLanahan, S., & Sandefur, G. (1994). *Growing up with a single parent: What hurts, what helps.* Cambridge, Mass.: Harvard.
- Meyer, J.W. (1986). The self and the life course: Institutionalization and its effects. In A.B. Sørensen, F.W. Weinert & L.R. Sherrod (Eds.), *Human development and the life course: Multidisciplinary perspectives* (pp. 199-216). Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Erlbaum.
- Meyer, J.W. (1988). Levels of analysis: The life course as a cultural construction. In M.W. Riley, B.J. Huber & B.B. Hess (Eds.), *Social change and the life course, Volume 1: Social structures & human lives* (pp. 49-62). Newbury Park, CA: Sage.
- Mills, J., & Clark, M.S. (1994). Communal and exchange relationships: Controversies and research. In R. Erber & R. Gilmour (Eds.), *Theoretical frameworks for personal relationships* (pp. 29-42). Hillsdale, N.J.: Erlbaum.
- Mincer, J. (1978). Family migration decisions. *Journal of Political Economy*, 86, 749-773.
- Ministerie van Welzijn, Volksgezondheid en Cultuur (1996). *Notitie Gezin: Maatschappelijk positie van het gezin*. Rijswijk: Directie Sociaal Beleid, Ministerie van WVC.
- Ministerie Volkshuisvesting, Ruimtelijke Ordening en Milieu (1997). *Wonen in 2030*. Den Haag: Directoraat Generaal Volkshuisvesting, Ministerie van VROM.
- Misztal, B.A. (1996). Trust in modern societies. The search for the bases of social order. Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Mulder, C.H. (1993). Migration dynamics: A life course approach. Amsterdam: Thesis Publishers.
- Mulder, C.H., & Hooimeijer, P. (1995). Alleen of samenwonen: de veranderende bestemming bij het verlaten van het ouderlijk huis. *Bevolking en Gezin 1995/2*, pp. 1-28
- Mulder, C.H., & Manting, D. (1994). Strategies of nest-leavers: 'Settling down' versus flexibility. *European Sociological Review*, 10, 155-172.

- Mulder, C.H., & Smits, J. (1999). First-time home-ownership of couples: the effect of inter-generational transmission. *European Sociological Review*, *15*, 323-337.
- Mulder, C.H., & Wagner, M. (1998). First-time Home-ownership in the Family Life Course: A West German-Dutch Comparison. *Urban studies*, *35*, 687-714.
- Murphy, M., & Wang, D. (1998). Family and sociodemographic influences on patterns of leaving home in postwar Britain. *Demography*, *35*, 293-305.
- Murphy, M.J., & Sullivan, O. (1985). Housing tenure and family formation in contemporary Britain. *European Sociological Review*, *1*, 230-243.
- Niehof, A. (1994). Het duveltje uit de zwarte doos: De ongemakkelijke relatie tussen gender en huishouden. Inaugurele rede Landbouwuniversiteit Wageningen.
- Niphuis-Nell, M. (1997). Eenoudergezinnen, stiefgezinnen en niet-verzorgende ouders. In M. Niphuis-Nell (Ed.), *Sociale atlas van de vrouw. Deel 4: Veranderingen in de primaire leefsfeer* (pp. 85-114). Rijswijk: Sociaal en Cultureel Planbureau.
- Nolan, M., Grant, G., & Keady, J. (1996). *Understanding family care: A multidimensional model of caring and coping.* Buckingham: Open University Press.
- Oorschot, W. van, & Komter, A. (1998). What is it that ties....? Theoretical perspectives on social bond. *Sociale Wetenschappen*, 41, 5-24.
- Oppenheimer, V.K. (1994). Women's rising employment and the future of the family in industrial societies. *Population and Development Review*, 20, 293-342.
- Oppenheimer, V.K., Kalmijn, M. & Lim, N. (1997). Men's career development and marriage timing during a period of rising inequality. *Demography*, 34, 311-330.
- Overleg Commissie Verkenningen (1996a). *Een vitaal kennissysteem. Nederlands onderzoek in toekomstig perspectief.* Amsterdam: OCV.
- Overleg Commissie Verkenningen (1996b). *Een strategie voor de Sociale Wetenschappen*. Amsterdam: OCV. Pels, T. (1998). *Opvoeding in Marokkaanse gezinnen in Nederland*. Assen: Van Gorcum.
- Poortman, A. & Kalmijn, M. (1999). Afnemende ongelijkheid tussen alleenstaande gescheiden mannen en vrouwen: Trends in arbeidsmarktdeelname. *Bevolking en Gezin*, forthcoming.
- Popenoe, D. (1988). *Disturbing the nest: family change and decline in modern societies*. New York: Aldine De Gruyter.
- Post, W., van Imhoff, E., Dykstra, P.A., & van Poppel, F. (1997). Verwantschapsnetwerken in Nederland: Verleden, heden en toekomst. Den Haag: NIDI Rapport nr. 51.
- Presser, H. B. (1994). Employment schedules among dual-earner spouses and the division of household labor by gender. *American Sociological Review*, *59*, 348-364.
- Prins, C.J.M., & Levering, J. (1992). Huwelijkssluiting, huwelijksontbinding en sterfte 1976-1990: Een levenstafelbenadering. *Maandstatistiek van de Bevolking*, 1992/3, 17-24.
- Prinz, C. (1995). Cohabiting, married, or single. Portraying, analyzing, and modeling new living arrangements in the changing societies of Europe. Aldershot: Avebury.
- Raschke, H.J. (1987). Divorce. In M.B. Sussman & S.K. Steinmetz (Eds.), *Handbook of marriage and the family* (pp. 597-624). New York: Plenum.
- Regt, A. de (1993): Geld en gezin; financiële en emotionele relaties tussen gezinsleden. Amsterdam: Boom.
- Regt, A. de (1995). Costs and benefits: On changes in parental care. *Netherlands' Journal of Social Sciences*, 31, 64-75.
- Riley, M.W. (1983). The family in an aging society: A matrix of latent relationships. *Journal of Family Issues*, 4, 439-454.
- Riley, M.W., & Riley, J.W. Jr. (1989). The lives of older people and changing social roles. *Annals of the Academy of Political and Social Science*, 503, 14-28.
- Riley, M.W., & Riley, J.W. Jr. (1994). Structural lag: Past and future. In M.W. Riley, R.H. Kahn & A. Foner (Eds.), *Age and structural lag* (pp. 197-212). New York: Wiley Interscience.
- Rindfuss, R.R., & VandenHeuvel, A. (1990). Cohabitation: a precursor to marriage or an alternative to being single? *Population and Development Review*, *16*, 703-726.
- Rindfuss, R.R., & St John, C. (1993). Social determinants of age at first birth. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 45, 553-565.
- Rispens, J., Hermanns, J.M.A., & Meeus, W.H.J. (Eds.) (1996). *Opvoeden in Nederland*. Assen: Van Gorcum. Roberts, E.L., Richards, L.N. & V.L. Bengtson (1991). Intergenerational solidarity in families: untangling the ties that bind. *Marriage and Family Review, 16,* 1-2: 11-46.
- Rogers, S.J., & Amato, P.R. (1997). Is marital quality declining? The evidence from two generations. *Social Forces*, 75, 1089-1100.
- Rossi, A.S., & Rossi, P.H. (1990). *Of human bonding: Parent-child relations across the life course.* New York: Aldine de Gruyter.
- Rusbult, C.E. (1987). Response to dissatisfaction in close relationships: The exit-voice-loyalty-neglect model. In D. Perlman & S. Duck (Eds.), *Intimate relationships* (pp. 209-237). London: Sage.

- Seltzer, J. A. (1991). Relationships between fathers and children who live apart: The father's role after separation. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, *53*, 79-101.
- Simons, R.L., & Associates (1996). *Understanding differences between divorced and intact families: Stress, interaction, and child outcome.* London: Sage.
- Smart, C. & B. Neale, (1999). Family Fragments? Cambridge: Polity Press.
- Smith, G.C. (1998). Residential separation and patterns of interaction between elderly parents and their adult children. *Progress in Human Geography*, 22, 368-384.
- Sociaal en Cultureel Planbureau (1996). Sociaal en Cultureel Rapport 1996. Den Haag: SCP.
- Sociaal en Cultureel Planbureau (1997). Het gezinsrapport. Den Haag: SCP.
- Sociaal-Wetenschappelijk Raad (1996). *Nieuwe perspectieven voor de gezinssociologie*. Amsterdam: Koninklijke Nederlandse Akademie van Wetenschappen.
- Soldo, B.J., & Hill, M.S. (1993). Intergenerational transfers: Economic, demographic and social perspectives. In G.L. Maddox & M. Powell Lawton (Eds.), *Annual Review of Gerontology and Geriatrics*, 13, 187-216.
- Soldo, B.J., Agree, E.M., & Wolf, D.A. (1989). The balance between formal and informal care. In M.G. Ory & K. Bond (Eds.), Aging and health care: Social science and policy perspectives (pp. 193-216). London: Routledge.
- Solinge, H. van, & Plomp, R. (1997). Armoede en demografisch gedrag. In N. van Nimwegen & G. Beets (Eds.), *Bevolkingsvraagstukken in Nederland anno 1997* (pp. 153-194). Den Haag: NIDI (rapport no. 50).
- Spitze, G., Logan, J.R., Deane, G., & Zerger, S. (1994). Adult children's divorce and intergenerational relationships. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 56, 279-293.
- Spruijt, A.P. (1989). Stiefgezinnen: Gewoon of anders? Amersfoort: Giordano Bruno.
- Spruijt, E. (1993). Volwassen worden in een kerngezin, eenoudergezin of stiefgezin. In M. Du Bois-Reymond & J. De Jong Gierveld (Eds.), *Volwassen worden. Generaties toen en nu: Transities in de levensloop* (pp. 73-92). Boekaflevering 68e jaargang *Mens en Maatschappij*. Houten/Zaventhem: Bohn Stafleu Van Loghum.
- Straver, C.J. (1993). Bindingen met partners in langdurige relaties. In C. Brinkgreve, J. Latten & W. Meeus (Eds.), *Binding in de levensloop* (pp. 298-309). Themanummer *Gezin: Tijdschrift voor Primaire Leefvormen*, *5*(4).
- Sullivan, O. (1986). Housing movements of the divorced and separated. Housing Studies, 1, 35-48.
- Swaan, A. de (1979). Uitgaansbeperking en uitgaansangst: Over de verschuiving van bevelshuishouding naar onderhandelingshuishouding. Amsterdam: Meulenhoff.
- Swaan, A. de (1983). Halverwege de heilstaat. Amsterdam: Meulenhoff.
- Tesser, P.T.M., Dugteren, F.A. van, & Merens, A. (1998). *Rapportage minderheden 1998: De eerste generatie in de derde levensfase*. Rijswijk: SCP.
- Thomson, E., & Colella, U. (1992). Cohabitation and marital stability; quality or commitment? *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, *54*, 259-267.
- Tilburg, T.G. van, Dykstra, P.A., Liefbroer, A.C., & Broese van Groenou, M.I. (1995). Sourcebook of Living Arrangements and Social Networks of Older Adults in the Netherlands. Questionnaire and Data Documentation of the NESTOR-program, Main Study 1992 and Network Study 1992-1995. Amsterdam: Vakgroep Methoden en Technieken van Sociaal-Wetenschappelijk Onderzoek, Vrije Universiteit.
- Tilburg, T.G. van, & Dykstra, P.A. (1995). Geografische spreiding van het sociale netwerk van ouderen. *Rooilijn*, 28, 140-146.
- Tilburg, T.G. van (1998). Losing and gaining in old age: Changes in personal network size and social support in a four-year longitudinal study. *Journal of Gerontology*, 53B, S313-S323.
- Turkenburg, M. (1995). *Een baan & een kind. Aspiraties en strategieën van laag opgeleide vrouwen*. Tilburg: Tilburg University Press.
- Uehara, E. (1990). Dual exchange theory, social networks, and informal social support. American Journal of Sociology, 96, 521-558.
- Uehara, E.S. (1995). Reciprocity reconsidered: Gouldner's 'moral norm of reciprocity' and social support. *Journal of Social and Personal Relationships*, 12, 483-502.
- Uhlenberg, P., & Cooney, T.M. (1995). Family size and mother-child relations in later life. *The Gerontologist*, 30, 618-625.
- Ultee, W., Arts, W., & Flap, H. (1993). Sociologie: Vragen, uitspraken, bevindingen. Groningen: Wolters-Noordhoff.
- Uunk, W. (1996). Who marries whom? The role of social origin, education and high culture in mate selection of industrial societies during the twentieth century. Nijmegen: Proefschrift Katholieke Universiteit.
- Vermeulen, H. & Penninx, R. (Eds.) (1994). Het democratisch ongeduld. De emancipatie en integratie van zes doelgroepen van het minderhedenbeleid. Amsterdam: Het Spinhuis.
- Vermunt, J.K. (1991): Een multivariaat model voor de geboorte van het eerste kind. *CBS Maandstatistiek van de Bevolking*, 91/5, 22-33.

- Waite, L.J., Goldscheider, F.K., & Witsberger, C. (1986). Nonfamily living and the erosion of traditional family orientations among young adults. *American Sociological Review*, *51*, 541-554.
- Waite, L.J. (1995). Does marriage matter? Demography, 32, 483-507.
- Walker, A. (1994). The need for solidarity between generations. London: National Pensioner=s Convention.
- Wallerstein, J.S., & Blakeslee, S. (1990). Second chances: Men, women, and children a decade after divorce. Boston: Houghton Mifflin.
- Weeda, C.J. (1985). Veranderende ideaalbeelden rond primaire leefvormen in hun macro-sociologische betekenis. In C.J.M. Corver, W. Dumon & J.M.L. Jonker (Eds.), *Primaire leefvormen. Ontwikkelingen in theorieën, onderzoek en problemen in de jaren zeventig* (pp. 109-123). Amsterdam: SISWO.
- Weeda, C.J. (1989). Samen leven. Een gezinssociologische inleiding. Leiden: Stenfert Kroese.
- Weeda, I. (1991). Echtscheiding. Een regenboog van ervaringen. Baarn: Bosch & Keuning.
- Weesie, J., & Raub, W. (1995). The management of matches: Decentralized mechanisms for cooperative relations with applications to organizations and households. In U. Bernitz & P. Hallström (Eds.), *Principles of justice and the European Union* (pp. 69-81). Stockholm: Juristförlaget.
- Wel, F. van, (1994). Mijn ouders reken ik tot mijn beste vrienden. Onderzoeken naar de band van jongeren met hun ouders en met hun beste vriend(in). *Jeugd en Samenleving 24*, 3-13.
- White, L.K., A. Booth & J.N. Edwards, (1986). Children and marital hapiness. Why the negative correlation? *Journal of Family Issues* 7, 131-147.
- White, L.K. (1983). Determinants of spousal interaction: marital structure or marital happiness. *Journal of Marriage and the Family*, 45, 511-519.
- Whittington, L., & Peters, H.E. (1996). Economic incentives for financial and residential independence. *Demography*, 33, 82-9.
- Wouters, C. (1990). Van minnen en sterven. Informalisering van omgangsvormen rond seks en dood. Amsterdam: Bert Bakker.
- Young, M., & Willmott, P. (1973). *The symmetrical family. A study of work and leisure in the London region.* London: Routledge & Kegan Paul.
- Zwaan, T. (1993). De verbroken viereenheid: Een interpretatie van recente transities. In T. Zwaan (Ed.), *Familie, huwelijk en gezin in West-Europa* (pp. 265-297). Amsterdam: Boom.